# **ANTEC TOOLBOX**



MANUAL v120

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
General	1
Product Overview.	
GETTING STARTED WITH TOOL BOX	2
	£
System Requirements	2
Installation Instructions	2
How to Connect to PACE	
Connecting to a Keystone Jack on the Thermostat	
Connecting Directly to PACE	4
How to Connect to the FHC	5
Connecting to the Fume Hood Interface (FHI)	5
Connecting directly to the FHC	5
Toolbox Start-up	6
PACE	7
Home Screen	7
PACE Manager Menu	9
Controller Information	9
Devices	
Airflow Devices	
Network	
Analog Inputs	
Binary Inputs	
Thermistors	
Analog Outputs	
Binary Outputs	
Sensor Information Network (SIN) Devices	
Room Sequence Manager	
General Settings	
Airflow Sequence	
Temperature Sequence	
Demand Control Ventilation (DCV) Sequence	
Room Mode Manager	
Types of Room Modes	
Airflow	40
Temperature	
Additional Features	
Airflow Staging	
Temperature Zones	
Indicators	
Advanced BACnet Settings	
How Object numbers are created for Inputs and Outputs	
How Object Names are created by default	
Advanced BACnet Settings	
Firmware Update	
Diagnostics	
Stored Files	
Configuration Backups	
User Settings	
Commissioning Report	

Commissioning Report	
ROOM.CFG	
BACnet Names	
Help	60
Changelog	60
FHC	61
Home Screen	61
Settings	63
Basic	63
Advanced	66
Alarms	69
Network	70
Balancing	71
HOW TO	72
Shutoff Valve Configuration	72
Shutoff Valve Basics	72
Recommended Configuration for Supply or General Exhaust Valve Applications	73
Recommended Configuration for Other Exhaust Valve Applications	73
TROUBLESHOOTING	74
Adjusting Windows Defender™ Firewall Settings	
Technical Support	
CHANGELOG	

# INTRODUCTION

# General

In this manual, you will find information regarding:

- Toolbox specifications
- How to connect to the Pace<sup>™</sup> Critical Space Controller (PACE) and the Fume Hood Controller (FHC)
- Detailed description of all options available for each controller
- Troubleshooting information

# **Product Overview**

Antec Toolbox is a software tool designed to allow service and start-up personnel to configure Antec Controls products such as:

- Pace<sup>™</sup> Critical Space Controller (PACE)
- Fume Hood Controller (FHC)

Some of its key features include:

- Easy-to-Use and intuitive layout
- Graphic layout that provides live feedback for select variables
   on one interface
- Balancing section for each valve
- Automatic software updates
- Built-in firmware updates for PACE
- Commissioning report generation



This mark indicates an important point for the proper function of the controllers used with Toolbox. Improper setup may cause unit failure. Pay close attention to all caution points throughout this manual.

For local area support, please contact your local Antec Controls Representative

For more information visit www.AntecControls.com



# GETTING STARTED WITH TOOLBOX

# **System Requirements**

System requirements to run Toolbox:

- Operating System: Windows 7 or higher
- CPU: 2 Gigahertz or faster
- RAM: 4 Gigabytes or more
- Hardware: Ethernet port or USB port and USB to Ethernet adapter

#### Installation Instructions

To install Antec Toolbox

- Follow the link provided during the Antec Controls Technician Training class.
- Download the Antec Toolbox installer (Setup.exe)
- If prompted by Windows Defender:

Click More info	then	Click <b>Run anyway</b>
Windows protected your PC      Windows Defender SmartScreen prevented an unrecognized app from     starting kurning this app might put your PC at risk. <u>More info</u>		Windows protected your PC      Windows Defender SmartSoreen prevented an unrecognized app from starting. Running this app might put your PC at risk.      App: Setup exe Publisher: Unknown publisher
Don't run		Run anyway Don't run

• If the following prompt is seen, click YES or NO:



NOTE: Clicking either option will result in successful installation of the software.

• Read the License Agreement and click Accept



If you are not prompted by Windows Defender™ to allow Antec Toolbox through the firewall. Proceed to the <u>Adjusting Windows DefenderTM</u> <u>Firewall Settings</u> in the Troubleshooting section of the manual.

# How to Connect to PACE

Toolbox communicates to PACE by utilizing the Room Information Network (RIN). For more information on RIN, please refer to the PACE manual found at <u>https://anteccontrols.com/products/#PACE</u>.

There are (2) methods to connect to PACE:

#### **Connecting to a Keystone Jack on the Thermostat**

If ground level access is desired to perform setup, commissioning, and balancing then a pluggable Keystone Jack (CKJ) can be installed on the back plate of the thermostat and wired into the RIN network. By default, this CKJ is included in all thermostats provided by Antec Controls, except for models with CO<sub>2</sub> measurement.

#### **Tools Required:**

- Computer running Windows 7 or higher with Toolbox installed
- Ethernet cable

#### Setup:





NOTE: For RIN typical wiring diagram please reference the PACE manual or the project specific wiring diagrams.



The CKJ must be at the end of line (EOL) of the RIN network.

# **Connecting Directly to PACE**

If a CKJ is not installed, then the user must connect directly to the RIN port on PACE (typically mounted on the supply or general exhaust valves).

#### **Tools Required:**

- Computer running Windows 7 or higher with Toolbox installed
- Ethernet cable with RJ45 to 4-wire connection

#### Setup:





**NOTE:** For RIN typical wiring diagram please reference the PACE manual or the project specific wiring diagrams.



When connecting directly to PACE, use an end of line (EOL) controller.

# How to Connect to the FHC

Toolbox communicates to the FHC utilizing a Linker Tool. The Linker Tool is a Price Industries proprietary connector used by Antec Controls and can be purchased through Antec Select. For more information on installing the software required for the Linker Tool please refer to the Linker product information at <a href="https://www.priceindustries.com/linkersoft">https://www.priceindustries.com/linkersoft</a>.

There are (2) methods to connect the Linker tool to the FHC:

#### **Connecting to the Fume Hood Interface (FHI)**

For ground level access, there is a Linker Service Connection on the back of the FHI that is mounted on the fume hood. This connection is present on every fume hood that has an Antec Controls FHI.

Tools required:

- Computer running Windows 7 or Higher with Toolbox and Linkersoft2 installed
- Linker Tool
- USB-A to USB-B cable (provided when ordering the Linker Tool)
- RJ12 to 6-pin connector cable (provided when ordering the Linker Tool)





#### **Connecting directly to the FHC**

If an FHI is not available, there is also a Linker Service Connection on the FHC (typically mounted on the fume hood exhaust valve).

Tools required:

- Computer running Windows 7 or Higher with Toolbox and Linkersoft 2 installed
- Linker Tool
- USB-A to USB-B cable (provided when ordering the Linker Tool)
- RJ12 cable (provided when ordering the Linker Tool)





# **Toolbox Start-up**

Upon start-up of the software, the user is prompted with the following screens.



#### Loading Screen

When opening Toolbox, the loading screen will display the current software version that is running on the computer. If there is a new version available, Toolbox will automatically update. This ensures users are always running the newest software version.

It will also check for the latest PACE firmware. If what it has locally is not the latest version, it will download the latest version.

It is **always** recommended that firmware is updated prior to arriving on site when beginning the start-up process.



An Internet connection must be present for Toolbox to detect that an update is available. Always open Toolbox on an Internet connection before going to the job-site to ensure it is up to date.



# PACE

# **Home Screen**

ROCM DETAILS   AIRFLOW   TEMPERATURE   NONMENT   RICK   RUKICONMENT   RICK   RUKICONS	;
ROOM DETAILS       +         AIRFLOW       +         TEMPERATURE       +         SAV-6-2       00 m.xc. RIN Connected         ENVIRONMENT       +         BACNET       +         INDICATORS       +	Ξ
AIRFLOW + TEMPERATURE + ENVIRONMENT + INDICATORS + ENVIRONMENT + INDICATORS +	
TEMPERATURE     +     SAV-6-2     00 inw.c. RIN Connected     GEV-6-2     00 inw.c. RIN Connected       ENVIRONMENT     +       BACNET     +       INDICATORS     +	
ENVIRONMENT + RHC DOV RM SP HM T BAC BACNET + INDICATORS +	
BACNET + INDICATORS +	
INDICATORS +	

After selecting PACE, the user is presented with the following screen:

In the example above, two PACE have been detected on the RIN network. The room has already been configured: Toolbox has populated with the configured devices for each PACE and the configured sequencing for the room.

The Home Screen provides the user with useful information regarding the room's operation.



#### **Connection Status**

Display to show whether Toolbox is currently connected to PACE on the RIN network. **NOTE:** If a connection is not detected upon initial start-up, a dropdown will be available to select a different network port.



#### Menu Button

Click this dropdown to access the settings for the room's functionality. See the <u>PACE – Settings</u> section of this manual for further information on available settings in each menu.

Menu/Option	Description
Room Sequence	Allows the user to configure high-level room settings, the
<u>Manager</u>	airflow control sequence and temperature and DCV control
	sequences if applicable.
Room Mode Manager	Allows the user to configure room airflow and temperature
	setpoints per room mode. Multiple modes of operation can be
	configured to allow for energy savings and emergency
	operation.
Airflow Staging	Allows user to stage airflow devices, if required.
<u>Temperature Zones</u>	Allows the user to configure the staging for reheat and/or
	cooling devices, add airflow for temperature control and set up
	multiple temperature zones, if required.
<u>Indicators</u>	Allows the user to configure alarms that are to be displayed on
	BACnet or trigger a binary output when active.
Advanced BACnet	Allows the user to rename and/or reorder BACnet points to
<u>Settings</u>	conform to any building standards for naming conventions.
<u>Firmware Updates</u>	Allows the user to update to the latest PACE firmware or update
	to an older firmware version with a provided firmware file
<u>Diagnostics</u>	Allows the user to view controller file listings, restart controllers,
	remove room configuration and retrieve diagnostic files for
	troubleshooting.
User Settings	Allows the user to adjust the units from imperial to metric.
Commissioning Report	Generates a CSV file containing all configured settings for the
	room
Help	Displays current software version, Field Support contact
	information and access to software changelog



#### Left Bar

Displays room level configuration information, provides live updates for sequence related readings and indicator status.

Section Name	Description
Room Details	Displays general room information including room name, airflow
	sequence, pressurization, control method, room status, room mode,
	current room pressure and air changes per hour
Temperature	Displays current and target temperature readings for each
	temperature zone.
Environment	Displays readings from environmental sensors including relative
	humidity, $CO_2$ and VOC.
BACnet	Displays BACnet device instance, MAC address and baud rate.
Indicators	Displays status of all indicators.

NOTE: The left bar is always shown for live updates on the room's operation

#### Main Display

Displays all valves with a PACE, live updates for valve airflow and pressure and all configured inputs and outputs.

Inputs and outputs for each PACE are configured by clicking on the valve icon. This will open the PACE MANAGER page for that controller.



FHC valves are visible after configuring the Fume Hood Network (FHN) and values are read only. FHCs must be configured using the FHC portion of Toolbox.

ANTEC TEOLOOK	- U X
MTEC	🧭 YOU ARE CONNECTED 🗮
ROOM DETAILS	R
	Standa Standar Milder
	8 (00) (00) (00) (00) (00) (00) (00) (00
	A CONTRACTOR OF

# **PACE Manager Menu**

When on the Home Screen, click on the valve that requires configuration to open the PACE Manager Menu.

This menu allows the user to configure devices for airflow, configurable networks, thermistors, inputs, outputs and SIN devices for the selected PACE.

ROOM DETAILS	~				· ·		
		PACE MANAGE	R				
AIRFLOW	~	l,	ACT DP				
emperature	~		SAV	VW 114-M 896 (CPM) 0.0 insws. RN Connected	_		
NVIRONMENT	~	ш Г	B.47   B.4 59	EVT ENC		Ping	
ACNET			0.0 V 72 F	79.10			
ACHEI	Ť						
IDICATORS	~	AIRFLOW	0	ANALOG INPUT	0	ANALOG OUTPUT	o
		POT1 - SAV-6-2		Al1 - TempSetpoint1		AC4 - SAV-6-2 ACT	
		896 (CFM) 1.948 (V)		5.457 (V) 71.8 (*F)		6.921 (V)	
		Balancing Edit	Curve	BINARY INPUT	0	Calibrate	
		NETWORK	0	THERMISTOR	0	AO1 - Reheat1	1
		NET1 - BACnet		T2 - RoomTemp1		0.000 (v)	
		76800 MAC: 1 DI: 158,001		79.4 (°F) 1.344 (V)		BINARY OUTPUT	0
						SIN DEVICES	

#### **Controller Information**

The top of the page shows a brief overview of the Valve and all its configured devices.

ACT 6.9 V			
SAV-6-2	VV 114-M 896 (CFM) 0.0 in.w.c. RIN Connected	Ping	
RHC         RM SP         RM T         BAC           0.0 V         72 *F         79 *F         1	]		

#### **Controller Information**

Whenever the user adds a device to the controller, it will create a card. The cards will display above and below the valve's image with the live readings from the input or output.

- Cards <u>above</u> the valve are related that specific valve's operation
- Cards below the valve are related to the room's overall operation

**NOTE**: The graphic on the Home Screen will display the same image shown here, including the cards.

The Ping button is used to identify the controller being configured. The LED on the selected PACE will begin flashing green when the Ping function is activated.

NOTE: Ping only works for PACEs that are configured and have a solid green light.

Live updates to the right of the valve will show the following:

- Model information from the valve's linestring (ex: VV-114-M indicates a single size 14 Venturi Valve designed for medium pressure operation)
- Airflow reading
- Valve differential pressure (available for VV only)
- Connection Status
  - RIN Connected = operating normally
  - RIN Unstable = intermittent RIN connection
  - RIN Offline = no RIN connection
  - Network Fault = error with either NET1 or NET 2. Will show BACnet, FHN, SIN, NET1 or NET2 fault depending on the usage of the network port where the error is detected

#### NOTES:

- The controller's name (ex: GEV-9-1) and the image (VV, VFX or TU) for the valve will autopopulate using the valve information from the valve's linestring.
- RIN connection errors will take priority over the Network Fault status. If RIN Unstable, RIN
  Offline, or Network Fault is observed, please refer to the <u>Troubleshooting</u> section of this
  manual.



When a room configuration is being saved, RIN connection will intermittently say RIN Offline while controllers power cycle.

Controller Details	ave Cancel
Controller Name	Part Number
SAV-6-2	270391 - Pace
MAC	Valve Type
00008489ECD003D1	VV
ControllerUID	Valve Size
SAV-6-2	114-M
Firmware Version	
v1.1.0	

#### **Controller Details**

The controller details menu displays important information about the controller. Access the menu by clicking on the picture of the valve in the PACE Manager menu.

Variable Name	Description
Controller Name	Allows the user to edit the controller name that appears in Toolbox. The controller's name will also display on BACnet as a pre-fix to Al, AO, BI and BO objects.
	NOTE: The Controller Name is limited to 15 characters.
MAC	Displays the unique MAC for the controller provided by Antec Controls.
Controller UID	A <u>Unique</u> <u>Identifier</u> used to identify each controller on the RIN network. This UID comes from the factory order and matches the Serial Number for the valve (if provided by Antec Controls).
Firmware Version	Current firmware running on the selected PACE.
Part Number	The Antec Controls part number for PACE firmware.
Valve Type	Displays the valve type loaded from the valve's linestring.
Valve Size	Displays valve size loaded from the valves linestring.

#### **Devices**

Any inputs/outputs that are configured on a PACE are referred to as Devices.

AIRECOW	0	ANALOG INFUT	0	ANALOG CUTPUT	0
ROTT - SAM-G-2 RM KOND - TONR (M		All - TempSerpaint) MAY M. (1819)		AD4 - 56656-2 ACT ART ON	
Telenang Fa	#Canie _	BINARY INPUT	۰	Calibrate	
NETWORK	0	THERMISTOR	0	AD1 Tabual1 0.000 (s)	8
NCTI DACHAL TROD VAC I DI GA(02)		12 RoomFergal 262(3) 1289(8)		NNARY OUTPUT	0
				SIN DEVICES	

#### Devices

Many device types are configurable for the selected PACE:

Variable Name	Description
Airflow	Configure the controlled valve. VV and VFX will be automatically configured with default settings from the linestring
Network	Configure NET1 and NET2 for FHN, SIN or BACnet.
Analog Input	Configure multiple usages for AI1 – AI4 using a 0 – 10 VDC input.
Binary Input	Configure multiple usages for BI1 and BI2 using a contact closure.
Thermistor	Configure multiple usages for T1 and T2 using a Thermistor.
Analog Output	Configure multiple usages for AO1 – AO4 using a 0 – 10 VDC output.
Binary Output	Configure multiple usages for BO1 and BO2 to output 24 VAC when active.
SIN Devices	Displays any currently detected SIN Devices after configuring the network.

**NOTE**: Up to 15 devices can be configured per PACE controller (excluding devices shown in the Network section).

#### Adding, removing, and editing devices:

- To add a device, click the 💽 button.
- To edit a device's setup, click the device's name.



• To remove a device, click the button.

**NOTE:** Live readings are also visible for the devices' input/output voltage or state and the value that corresponds to the particular usage that has been selected.

#### **Airflow Devices**

Airflow devices are required when PACE is measuring and controlling an airflow control device to maintain an airflow setpoint. These are only required for an input that is actively being measured and controlled by PACE.

Instructions and settings for an airflow input for a Venturi Valve (VV), Venturi FX Valve (VFX) and Terminal Unit (TU) are below.

**NOTE:** The airflow device will come pre-configured based on the linestring for the valve. Typically, the airflow device will not require any configuration.

EDIT AIRFLOW IN	IPUT	Save	Cancel
Туре		Flow Direction	
VV	-	Exhaust	
Minimum Flow		Maximum Flow	
200	CFM	2,500	CFM
Port		Valve Pressure Pr	ort
Potentiometer 1	-	Pressure Tra	nsducer -
Name		Network Fail Posi	tion
GEV1		Fail Last Pos	ition .

#### Airflow Input (VV)

Below are the settings associated with configuring a Venturi Valve airflow input. The following settings are available if the TYPE is set to VV.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Flow Direction	Exhaust Supply	Flow direction of the valve controlled by PACE
Minimum Flow	0	Limits the minimum operating range of the valve. Typically set to the full minimum of the valve.
Maximum Flow	Maximum flow corresponding to the operating range of the valve	Limits the maximum operating range of the valve. Typically set to the full maximum of the valve.
Port	Potentiometer 1 Potentiometer 2	The physical port where the potentiometer for the Venturi Valve is connected.
		<ul> <li>NOTES:</li> <li>Single and Dual VVs are wired with ONE POT on Potentiometer 1.</li> <li>Triple VVs are wired with TWO POTS on Potentiometer 1 and 2 respectively.</li> </ul>
Valve Pressure Port	Pressure Transducer Analog Input 1 – 4	Differential pressure measured to confirm the venturi valve is operating within its required pressure range.
		Pressure Transducer is the on-board pressure transducer installed on every PACE.
		<b>NOTE:</b> If using a 3 <sup>rd</sup> party sensor with 0 – 10 VDC output for the differential pressure measurement, AI 1 – 4 can be assigned for differential pressure.
Name	19 characters	The name for the airflow device.
		<b>NOTE</b> : This name will display on BACnet as part of the Analog Values for the POT reading.
Network Fail Position	Fail Last Position Fail Fully Open Fail Fully Closed	Sets the fail position for the Airflow Device if a PACE goes offline on the RIN network.



Ensure the valve's operation is not limited by the minimum flow or maximum flow. In rooms with fume hoods where the valve may have to modulate based on fume hood usage, the valve may need to exceed the design flows in the design documents in order to maintain the room's flow offset.



#### Balancing (VV)

The balancing menu is used to adjust the airflow reading from the PACE to match a Test and Balance (TAB) reading.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Current Airflow	Read Only	Live reading of the airflow being reported by the Venturi Valve.
Valve Pressure	Read Only	Live reading of the pressure drop across the Venturi Valve.
		<b>NOTE:</b> Pressure drop is crucial to optimal performance of the venturi valve. Ensure the valve is within its operating limits during balancing.
Scale	0.5 to 2.0	Scales PACE's airflow reading by a multiplication. EX: If PACE displays 1000 CFM and TAB measures 1050 CFM, set the Scale to 1.05.
Offset	-1000 to 1000	NOTE: This should be the primary balancing tool. Offsets PACE's airflow reading by a set increment. EX: If PACE displays 230 CFM and TAB measures 250 CFM, set the Offset to +20 CFM.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This should be a secondary balancing tool.
Voltage	0 to 10.5 Volts	Provides the user with a voltage override to drive the actuator to a set position. This can be used to target different airflows for balancing.
Override	On/Off	Click to enable/disable the Actuator Override. When enabled, the button appears ORANGE and allows the user to enter values into the Voltage field.
		<b>NOTES:</b> Tab out of the voltage box when the override is active to change the override value. The override is automatically removed after closing the window.

#### NOTE:

- Ensure any scale or offset values are saved before exiting the menu. If the values are not saved, then they will need to be re-entered.
- Airflow Overrides are only available with PACE firmware v1.1.1 or later

#### Edit Curve (VV)

The edit curve menu is used to adjust the POT curve loaded onto PACE. The main use for the edit curve menu is for Venturi Valve Retrofit (VVR) kits.

For replacement POT curves, contact Antec Field Support.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Excitation Voltage	Controller Dependent	Allows the user to input the controller's excitation voltage.
		NOTE: The excitation voltage for PACE is 3.3 VDC.
Scale	On/Off	Click to scale a POT curve to an excitation voltage of 3.3 VDC. When selected, the POT curve voltage values will change to correspond with an excitation voltage of 3.3 VDC.
		NOTES:
		<ul> <li>The voltage values will change when scaling the POT curve.</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>The scaling function is only required when the original excitation voltage differs from 3.3 VDC.</li> </ul>

#### NOTES:

- The curve point flow and voltage values must be equal or increase from Point #1 to Point #8.
- When configuring VVR kits the POT curve and excitation voltage are input in this menu.

POT1.CRV		
Airflow (CFM)	Voltage (V)	
200	1.539	
301	1.665	
437	1.773	
638	1.875	
960	1.966	
1,424	2.048	
1,948	2.120	
2,500	2.192	
Excitation Voltage 3.300 V	Scale	
Save	Cancel	

Туре		Flow Direction	
VFX	-	Exhaust	
Minimum Flow		Maximum Flow	
80	CFM	800	CFM
Port		K-factor	
Pressure Transd	ucer 👻	600	
Name		Network Fail Positio	m
	Name		
EDIT AIRFLOW I	NPUT	Fail Last Positi	on r Cancel
EDIT AIRFLOW I	NPUT	Fail Last Positi	on r Cancel
EDIT AIRFLOW II	NPUT	Fail Last Positi	on T
GEV-6-1 EDIT AIRFLOW II Type Terminal Unit Minimum Flow	NPUT	Fail Last Positi Save Flow Direction Exhaust Maximum Flow	on Cancel
EDIT AIRFLOW II Type Terminal Unit Minimum Flow 80	CFM	Fail Last Positi Save Flow Direction Exhaust Maximum Flow 800	on Cancel
EDIT AIRFLOW II Type Terminal Unit Minimum Flow 80 Port	CFM	Fail Last Positi Save Flow Direction Exhaust Maximum Flow 800 K-factor	On Cancel
GEV-6-1 EDIT AIRFLOW II Type Terminal Unit Minimum Flow 80 Port Pressure Transd	CFM ucer	Fail Last Positi Save Flow Direction Exhaust Maximum Flow 800 K-factor 600	Cancel
GEV-6-1 EDIT AIRFLOW II Type Terminal Unit Minimum Flow 80 Port Pressure Transd Name	CFM ucer •	Fail Last Positi Save Flow Direction Exhaust Maximum Flow 800 K-factor 600 Network Fail Positik	Cancel

#### Airflow Input (VFX/TU)

Below are the settings associated with configuring a VFX or TU airflow input. The following settings are available if the TYPE is set to VFX or TU.

Variable Name	Available	Description
	Options/Range	
Flow Direction	Exhaust	Flow direction of the valve being controlled.
	Supply	
Minimum Flow	0	Limits the minimum operating range of the valve.
		Typically set to the minimum of the valve.
Maximum Flow	Maximum flow	Limits the maximum operating range of the valve.
	corresponding to	Typically set to the maximum of the valve.
	the operating	
	range of the valve	
Port	Pressure	The physical port where the pressure transducer for
	Transducer	the VFX or TU is connected.
		<b>T</b>
		This pressure will be used to calculate the airflow
		through the valve using the following equation:
		$Q = K * \sqrt{dP}$
		NOTE: The on heard pressure transducer must be
		used for VEX or TLL applications
Namo	19 characters	The name for the airflow device
Name	10 characters	The name for the arnow device.
		NOTE: This name will display on BACnet as part of
		the Analog Values for the flow reading.
K- factor	0 to 15000	Sets the K-factor of the valve. The K-factor will be
		adjusted based on the TAB airflow measurements.
		,
		NOTE: The baseline K-factor values for each valve
		size can be found in the VFX product manual on the
		Antec Controls website.
Network Fail	Fail Last Position	Sets the fail position for the airflow device if a PACE
Position	Fail Fully Open	controller goes offline on the RIN network.
	Fail Fully Closed	



Ensure the valve's operation is not limited by the minimum flow or maximum flow. In rooms with Fume Hoods where the valve may have to modulate based on fume hood usage, the valve may need to exceed the design flows in the design documents in order to maintain the room's flow offset.



#### Balancing (VFX/TU)

The balancing menu is used to adjust the VFX or TU reading on PACE to match a Test and Balance (TAB) reading.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Current Airflow	Read Only	Live reading of the airflow being reported by the Venturi Valve.
Valve Pressure	Read Only	Not applicable for VFX or TU applications.
K-factor	0 to 15000	Sets the K-factor of the valve. The K-factor will be adjusted based on the test and balancer airflow measurements using the following formula:
		$(New K) = \frac{TAB \ reading}{PACE \ reading} * (Starting K)$
		<b>NOTE:</b> The standard K-factor values for each valve size can be found in the VFX product manual on the Antec Controls website.
Voltage	0 to 10.5 Volts	Provides the user with a voltage override to drive the actuator to a set position. This can be used to target different airflows on the valve for balancing.
Override	On/Off	Click to enable/disable the actuator override. When enabled, the button appears ORANGE and allows the user to enter values into the Voltage field.
		<ul> <li>NOTES:</li> <li>Tab out of the voltage box when the override is active to change the override value.</li> <li>The override is automatically removed after closing the window.</li> </ul>

#### NOTES:

- Ensure the K-factor value is saved before exiting the menu. If the value is not saved, then it will need to be re-entered.
- Airflow Overrides are only available with PACE firmware v1.1.1 or later

#### PID Tuning (VFX/TU)

The PID tuning menu allows for the adjustment of proportional, integral and derivative values for the VFX or TU.

For supplementary information on adjusting PID settings for blade damper control contact Antec Field Support.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Proportional	No Limits	Sets the proportional gain value used to control the damper blade.
Integral	No Limits	Sets the integral value used to control VFX damper blade.
Derivative	No Limits	Sets the derivative value used to control VFX damper blade.
Integral Cap	No Limits	Sets the limit for the integral term of the PID settings used to control damper blade.
Deadband	0 to 10% <u>and</u> 0 to 30 CFM	Sets the deadband for the CFM control through the valve. PACE will determine whether the control is in the deadband based on the larger of the CFM or % values.
		<b>NOTE:</b> The % deadband is based on the % of current flow target. If PACE is targeting 1000 CFM and the deadband is 5% of 1000 CFM. It will maintain position until the reading goes outside of the range between 950 – 1050 CFM.
NOTE: Before adju Support for instruc	usting the proportiona	al, integral and derivative values contact Antec Field

PID TUNING	Save & Close	Cancel
Proportional	Integral	Сар
0.05	100	
Integral	Deadba	nd
0.03	10	CFM
Derivative	Deadba	nd
0	5	%

#### Network

This section details configuration instructions and available settings for networks including BACnet, the fume hood network (FHN) and the sensor information network (SIN).



#### BACnet

BACnet is the communication protocol used to provide the Building Automation System (BAS) with information about how the room is currently functioning. Additionally, it provides overrides from the BAS to control certain functions within the room.

The following settings are available if the Network Type is **BACnet**.

-	-	
Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	NET1	Choose the configurable network port where
	NET2	BACnet is physically wired to the PACE.
MAC Address	1 to 127	The MAC address is used locally on the MS/TP segment to physically address devices. The MAC address is not passed through routers.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This must be unique for each device within the MS/TP segment.
Baud Rate	9,600 19,200 38,400	The rate at which information is transferred over the BACnet network.
	76,800	NOTE: All devices on a BACnet segment must be set to communicate at the same baud rate.
Device Instance	1 to 4,194,303	Whether on an MS/TP segment or IP network, the device instance is the logical address that matters to BACnet.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This must be a unique address throughout the entire facility.

#### NOTES:

- Only one BACnet connection is allowed per RIN network.
- All BACnet points for the room will go through the one connection.



#### Fume Hood Network (FHN)

The FHN allows PACE to communicate with the FHCs in the room so they can be included in the room's flow offset calculation and also provide diagnostic information for the FHC using the same BACnet connection as the RIN network.

The following settings are available if the Network Type is FHN.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	NET1 NET2	Choose the configurable network port where FHN is physically wired to the PACE.
Number of Fume hoods	1 to 16	Select the number of fume hoods that reside on the physical FHN.
		NOTE: A maximum of 16 fume hoods are allowed

NOTES:

- Only one FHN connection is allowed per RIN network.
- Addressing for the FHCs that are communicating on FHN must be done in the FHC setup.

on one fume hood network.

#### Sensor Information Network (SIN)

SIN allows PACE to communicate with any SIND devices used in the room. This includes the SIN Room Pressure Sensor (SRPS), which can be used to either monitor or control room pressure in a space.

The following settings are available if the Network Type is SIN

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	NET1	Choose the configurable network port where SIN is
	NET2	physically wired to the PACE.

#### NOTES:

• Only one SIN connection is allowed per RIN network.

• SIN can support up to three SIND devices on each individual network.



#### **Analog Inputs**

This section details configuration instructions and available settings for analog inputs including room pressure, temperature setpoint, humidity, CO<sub>2</sub>, VOC, duct pressure, room temperature, DAT, air temperature, ACH and airflow.

**NOTE:** A maximum of four analog inputs are configurable per PACE.



#### **Room Pressure**

Room pressure can be used for either monitoring or controlling the pressure differential in a given room.

The following settings are available if the Usage is Room Pressure.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Analog Input 1 Analog Input 2 Analog Input 3 Analog Input 4	Choose the Analog Input port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Voltage	0 to 10 Volts	Sets the minimum and maximum voltage range. The voltage range entered here must match the voltage range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Value	Range of Sensor	Sets the minimum and maximum value. The value range entered here must match the value range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Scale Factor	0.5 to 2.0	Scales PACE's pressure reading by a multiplication. EX: If PACE displays 0.01 in.w.c. and TAB measured 0.011 in.w.c., set the scale to 1.1
Offset	-0.005 to +0.005 in.w.c.	NOTE: This should be the primary balancing tool. Offsets PACE's pressure reading by a set increment. EX: If PACE displays 0.00 in.w.c. and TAB measures -0.002 in.w.c., set the offset to - 0.002 in.w.c
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input. <b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.

EDIT ANALOG INPUT	Save Cancel
Usage Temperature Setpoint	Port Analog Input 1
Minimum Voltage	Maximum Voltage
0.000 V	10.000 V
Minimum Value	Maximum Value
50.0 °F	90.0 °F
Zone	
Zone #1 ·	
Name	
TempSetpoint1	

#### **Temperature Setpoint**

Temperature Setpoint is used to drive the temperature in the room either hotter or colder based on a locally adjusted input from the room user.

The following settings are available if the Usage is Temperature Setpoint.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Analog Input 1 Analog Input 2 Analog Input 3 Analog Input 4	Choose the Analog Input port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Voltage	0 to 10 Volts	Sets the minimum and maximum voltage range. The voltage range entered here must match the voltage range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Value	Range of Sensor	Sets the minimum and maximum value. The value range entered here must match the value range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Zone	Zone #1 Zone #2 Zone #3	Assigns the Temperature Setpoint input to control the setpoint in either Zone #1, #2, or #3. <b>NOTE:</b> The number of zones available will change
		depending on how many temperature zones are configured. See the <u>Temperature Zones</u> menu for more information on creating temperature zones.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input. <b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.



#### Humidity

Humidity is used when PACE is required to monitor a humidity reading in either a room or in the duct.

The following settings are available if the Usage is Humidity.

0 0		5 <b>.</b>
Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Analog Input 1 Analog Input 2 Analog Input 3 Analog Input 4	Choose the Analog Input port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Voltage	0 to 10 Volts	Sets the minimum and maximum voltage range. The voltage range entered here must match the voltage range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Value	Range of Sensor	Sets the minimum and maximum value. The value range entered here must match the value range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input. <b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.
NOTE: PACE supports	s humidity monitorir	ng only.



#### **CO**<sub>2</sub>

 $\ensuremath{\text{CO}}_2$  is used to monitor the carbon dioxide levels in a room.

The following settings are available if the Usage is  $\textbf{CO}_2$ .

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Analog Input 1 Analog Input 2 Analog Input 3 Analog Input 4	Choose the Analog Input port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Voltage	0 to 10 Volts	Sets the minimum and maximum voltage range. The voltage range entered here must match the voltage range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Value	Range of Sensor	Sets the minimum and maximum value. The value range entered here must match the value range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input.
		NOTE: I his name will display in the BACnet object name.

**NOTE:** PACE supports CO<sub>2</sub> monitoring only.

#### VOC

Volatile Organic Compounds (VOC) are used to monitor contaminants in the air.

The following settings are available if the Usage is  $\ensuremath{\textbf{VOC}}$  .

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Analog Input 1 Analog Input 2 Analog Input 3 Analog Input 4	Choose the Analog Input port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Voltage	0 to 10 Volts	Sets the minimum and maximum voltage range. The voltage range entered here must match the voltage range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Value	Range of Sensor	Sets the minimum and maximum value. The value range entered here must match the value range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input. NOTE: This name will display in the BACnet
		object name.

**NOTE:** PACE supports VOC monitoring only.

AUU ANA	ALUG INPUT	Add	Cancel
Usage		Port	
VOC	*	Analog	Input 2
0	V	10	V
0	V	10	V
Minimum	Value	Maximu	m Value
0	ppm	2000	ppm
Name			

ADD ANAL	OG INPUT	Add	Cancel
Usage		Port	
Duct Pressure		Analog	Input 2
Minimum Vo	ltage	Maximur	n Voltage
0	V	10	V
Minimum Va	lue	Maximur	n Value
0	in.w.c.	2	in.w.c
Name			
DuctPress	ure1		

#### **Duct Pressure**

Duct pressure monitoring may be useful in determining if the duct static pressure is in an acceptable range so the airflow device can effectively control airflow.

The following settings are available if the Usage is Duct Pressure.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Analog Input 1 Analog Input 2 Analog Input 3 Analog Input 4	Choose the Analog Input port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Voltage	0 to 10 Volts	Sets the minimum and maximum voltage range. The voltage range entered here must match the voltage range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Value	Range of Sensor	Sets the minimum and maximum value. The value range entered here must match the value range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input. <b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.

NOTE: PACE supports duct pressure monitoring only.

#### Room Temperature

This room temperature reading is used in the temperature control sequence for the configured temperature zone.

#### The following settings are available if the Usage is Room Temperature.

Available Options/Range	Description
Analog Input 1 Analog Input 2 Analog Input 3 Analog Input 4	Choose the Analog Input port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
0 to 10 Volts	Sets the minimum and maximum voltage range. The voltage range entered here must match the voltage range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Range of Sensor	Sets the minimum and maximum value. The value range entered here must match the value range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Zone #1 Zone #2 Zone #3	Assigns the Room Temperature input to either Zone #1, #2 or #3.
	depending on how many temperature zones are configured. See the <u>Temperature Zones</u> menu for more information on creating temperature zones.
No Limits	Allows the user to adjust the temperature reading to match a reading from a balancer or commissioning agent. Applies a fixed offset to the room temperature reading.
19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input. <b>NOTE</b> : This name will display in the BACnet object name.
	Available Options/Range Analog Input 1 Analog Input 2 Analog Input 3 Analog Input 4 0 to 10 Volts Range of Sensor Zone #1 Zone #2 Zone #3 No Limits 19 Characters





#### **Discharge Air Temperature (DAT)**

DAT temperature is used to monitor or control the air temperature in the duct after the reheat device. When using temperature control with DAT limits, this reading is used for control purposes.

The following settings are available if the Usage is **DAT**.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Analog Input 1 Analog Input 2 Analog Input 3 Analog Input 4	Choose the Analog Input port where the device is physically wired to PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Voltage	0 to 10 Volts	Sets the minimum and maximum voltage range. The voltage range entered here must match the voltage range for the device providing the signal voltage to PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Value	Range of Sensor	Sets the minimum and maximum value. The value range entered here must match the value range for the device providing the signal voltage to PACE.
Zone	Zone #1 Zone #2 Zone #3	Assigns the DAT to either Zone #1, #2 or #3. <b>NOTE:</b> The number of zones available will change depending on how many temperature zones are configured. See the <u>Temperature Zones</u> menu for more information on creating temperature zones.
Temperature Offset	No Limits	Allows the user to adjust the temperature reading to match a reading from a balancer or commissioning agent. Applies a fixed offset to the room temperature reading.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input. <b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.



#### Air Temperature

Air temperature inputs are not used in the control for the room, but can be used to monitor air temperature. This may be useful if the entering air temperature to the reheat device is required for monitoring.

The following settings are available if the Usage is Air Temperature.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Analog Input 1 Analog Input 2 Analog Input 3 Analog Input 4	Choose the Analog Input port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Voltage	0 to 10 Volts	Sets the minimum and maximum voltage range. The voltage range entered here must match the voltage range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Value	Range of Sensor	Sets the minimum and maximum value. The value range entered here must match the value range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Zone	Zone #1 Zone #2 Zone #3	Assigns the Temperature Setpoint input to control the setpoint in either Zone #1, #2 or #3. <b>NOTE:</b> The number of zones available will change
		depending on how many temperature zones are configured. See the <u>Temperature Zones</u> menu for more information on creating temperature zones.
Temperature Offset	No Limits	Allows the user to adjust the temperature reading to match a reading from a balancer or commissioning agent. Applies a fixed offset to the room temperature reading.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.



#### Air Changes per Hour (ACH)

An ACH demand input is required to configure the room for Demand Control Ventilation (DCV). This is not an ACH calculation for the room.

The following settings are available if the Usage is ACH.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Analog Input 1 Analog Input 2 Analog Input 3 Analog Input 4	Choose the Analog Input port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Voltage	0 to 10 Volts	Sets the minimum and maximum voltage range. The voltage range entered here must match the voltage range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Value	Range of Sensor	Sets the minimum and maximum value. The value range entered here must match the value range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.



#### Airflow

An Airflow input is typically used when PACE requires the airflow of a valve controlled by others for total airflow and offset calculations.

The following settings are available if the Usage is Airflow.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Analog Input 1 Analog Input 2 Analog Input 3 Analog Input 4	Choose the Analog Input port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Voltage	0 to 10 Volts	Sets the minimum and maximum voltage range. The voltage range entered here must match the voltage range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Value	Range of Sensor	Sets the minimum and maximum value. The value range entered here must match the value range for the device providing the signal voltage to the PACE.
Flow Direction	Exhaust Supply	Flow direction of the valve monitored by the PACE.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.

ADD ANALOG INPUT Add Cancel
Usage Port
Voltage Analog Input 2 
Name
Voltage 1

#### Voltage

A Voltage input is typically used when PACE is required to monitor a generic voltage input. This may be used if a voltage usage is not supported by PACE, but requires to be monitored by the facility on BACnet.

The following settings are available if the Usage is Voltage.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Analog Input 1 Analog Input 2 Analog Input 3 Analog Input 4	Choose the Analog Input port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input.
		object name.

#### **Binary Inputs**

This section details configuration instructions and available settings for binary inputs including generic binary inputs, dual flow setpoint switches, room mode switches, indicators, door contact switches and add static flows.

**NOTE:** A maximum of two binary inputs are configurable per PACE.



#### Generic Bl

Generic BI does not have any control functionality in the room's operation, but can be used to monitor external devices such as pressure switches to trigger alarms on BACnet or in the room.

The following settings are available if the Usage is Generic BI.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Binary Input 1 Binary Input 2	Choose the Binary Input port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Device Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input.
		NOTE: This name will display in the BACnet object

name.

ADD BINARY INPU	т	Add	Cancel
Usage		Port	
Dual Flow Setpoin	t 👻	Binary Inpu	ut 1
Contact Open Flow		Contact Clos	ed Flow
90	CFM	1,500	CFM
Controlled Device			
SAV1 ACT	*		
Device Name			
UpdateSetpoint1			

#### **Dual Flow Set Point**

Dual Flow Setpoint is used to control an auxiliary airflow device which has a VAV actuator and a PACE. The Binary Input will receive either a closed or open signal to change the setpoint for the auxiliary valve.

The following settings are available if the Usage is **Dual Flow Setpoint**.

-		
Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Binary Input 1 Binary Input 2	Choose the Binary Input port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Contact Open Flow	Minimum to Maximum Range of Valve	Configures the flow set point when the binary input is in its open position.
Contact Closed Flow	Minimum to Maximum Range of Valve	Configures the flow setpoint when the binary input is in its closed state.
Controlled Device	Changes depending on Airflow Devices	This will be the Airflow Device that is controlled to the two different airflow setpoints.
		Any airflow devices configured with an actuator that are not already associated with a Dual Flow Setpoint BI will be available from the dropdown.
Device Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.

ADD BINARY INPUT		Add Ca	ancel
Usage		Port	
Room Mode	*	Binary Input 1	-
Active State		Room Mode	
Contact Open	*	Unoccupied	
Device Name			
RoomMode1			

ADD BINARY INPUT

Usage Indicator

Active State Contact Open Device Name TriggerIndicator1

#### Room Mode

The Room Mode usage is used to switch to custom room modes based on a contact closure input signal. This may include Emergency Modes or Unoccupied Modes.

The following settings are available if the Usage is Room Mode.

5			
	Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
	Port	Binary Input 1 Binary Input 2	Choose the Binary Input port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
	Active State	Contact Open	When Active State is configured to Contact Open, an open contact will trigger a change in room mode.
		Contact Closed	When Active State is configured to Contact Closed, a closed contact will trigger a change in room mode.
	Room Mode	All room modes configured in the room mode manger menu (Excluding the Default Room Mode)	Sets the room mode that is activated when the binary input is in its active state.
	Device Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input.
			<b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object

**NOTE:** The room mode to be configured for the input must first be created in the <u>Room</u> <u>Mode Manager</u> before it will be available for selection.

#### Indicator

The Indicator binary input is used to trigger an indicator based on a contact closure input.

The following settings are available if the Usage is Indicator.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Binary Input 1	Choose the Binary Input port where the device is
	Binary Input 2	physically wired to the PACE.
Active State	Contact Open	When Active State is configured to Contact Open,
		an open contact will trigger the indicator.
	Contact Closed	When Active State is configured to Contact Closed,
		a closed contact will trigger the indicator.
Device Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input.

NOTE: This name will display in the BACnet object

name.

**NOTE**: The indicator needs to be configured in the Indicators page previous to configuring the binary input. This is to establish which room modes the user would like the binary input to be active in.



Add

Binary Input 1

Cancel

Door	Contact	Switch
------	---------	--------

Door Contact Switches can be used to monitor whether a door is open or closed. When a door contact switch is configured in conjunction with pressure control, the PID control will be paused while the door is open. If only used for monitoring, the door can also trigger an indicator if it is left open for too long.

#### The following settings are available if the Usage is Door Contact Switch.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Binary Input 1 Binary Input 2	Choose the Binary Input port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Door Open State	Contact Open	When Door Open State is configured to Contact Open, an open contact will signal an Open Door.
	Contact Closed	When Door Open State is configured to Contact Closed, a closed contact will signal an Open Door.
Device Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.



#### Add Static Flow

---

Add Static Flow is used with an auxiliary airflow device that has a 2-position actuator but no PACE. The static flow binary input adds a set amount of airflow to the room's total flow calculation based on the contact closure.

#### The following settings are available if the Usage is Add Static Flow.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Binary Input 1 Binary Input 2	Choose the Binary Input port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Contact Open Flow	Minimum to Maximum Range of Valve	Configures the airflow setpoint when the binary input is in its open state.
Contact Closed Flow	Minimum to Maximum Range of Valve	Configures the airflow setpoint when the binary input is in its closed position.
Airflow Direction	Exhaust Supply	Airflow direction of the auxiliary valve
Device Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.

#### **Thermistors**

ADD THERMISTOR

Room Temperature -

Zone #1

Name RoomTemp2

This section details configuration instructions and available settings for thermistor inputs including room temperature, DAT and air temperature.

**NOTE:** A maximum of two thermistor inputs are configurable per PACE.

°F

Port

0

Thermistor 1

# Room Temperature

This room temperature reading is used in the temperature control sequence for the configured temperature zone.

The following settings are available if the Usage is **Room Temperature**.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Thermistor 1 Thermistor 2	Choose the Thermistor Input port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Zone	Zone #1 Zone #2 Zone #3	Assigns the Room Temperature input to either Zone #1, #2 or #3.
		<b>NOTE:</b> The number of zones available will change depending on how many temperature zones are configured. See the <u>Temperature Zones</u> menu for more information on creating temperature zones.
Temperature Offset	No Limits	Allows the user to adjust the temperature reading to match a reading from a balancer or commissioning agent. Applies a fixed offset to the room temperature reading.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input.
		NOTE: This name will display in the BACnet object name.



#### **Duct Air Temperature (DAT)**

DAT temperature is used to monitor or control the air temperature after the reheat device. When using temperature control with DAT limits, this reading is used for control purposes.

The following settings are available if the Usage is DAT.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Thermistor 1 Thermistor 2	Choose the Thermistor Input port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Zone	Zone #1 Zone #2	Assigns the DAT to either Zone #1, #2 or #3.
	Zone #3	<b>NOTE:</b> The number of zones available will change depending on how many temperature zones are configured. See the <u>Temperature Zones</u> menu for more information on creating temperature zones.
Temperature Offset	No Limits	Allows the user to adjust the temperature reading to match a reading from a balancer or commissioning agent. Applies a fixed offset to the room temperature reading.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.

ADD THERMISTOR	٢	Add	Cancel	
Usage		Port		
Air Temperature	*	Thermis	tor 1	2
Zone		Temperat	ture Offset	
Zone #1	*	0		°F
Name				
AirTemp1				

#### Air Temperature

Air temperature inputs are not used in the control for the room, but can be used to monitor air temperature. This may be useful if the entering air temperature to the reheat device is required for monitoring.

The	following	settings are	available if th	ne Usage is <b>Air</b>	Temperature.

		•
Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Thermistor 1 Thermistor 2	Choose the Thermistor Input port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Zone	Zone #1 Zone #2 Zone #3	Assigns the Air Temperature to either Zone #1, #2 or #3.
		<b>NOTE:</b> The number of zones available will change depending on how many temperature zones are configured. See the <u>Temperature Zones</u> menu for more information on creating temperature zones.
Temperature Offset	No Limits	Allows the user to adjust the temperature reading to match a reading from a balancer or commissioning agent. Applies a fixed offset to the room temperature reading.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this input.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.

#### **Analog Outputs**

This section details configuration instructions and available settings for analog outputs including supply and exhaust actuator, reheat, room pressure, valve pressure, valve airflow and cooling devices.

**NOTE:** A maximum of four analog outputs are configurable per PACE.



#### **Supply Actuator**

The Supply Actuator output is used to control the supply airflow device to meet the target airflow setpoint.

The following settings are available if the Usage is Supply Actuator.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Analog Output 1 Analog Output 2 Analog Output 3 Analog Output 4	Choose the Analog Output port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Airflow Input	Supply airflow devices configured on	Set the airflow device that this actuator is meant to control.
	same PACE	<b>NOTE:</b> When using triple venturi valves, there are two actuators and two airflow devices. Make sure the actuator being configured is set to control the correct valve in the assembly.
Minimum/Maximum Voltage	0 to 10 Volts	Sets the range of voltage of the actuator.
		<b>NOTE</b> : The Belimo actuators used by Antec Controls have a 2-10 VDC range.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this output.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.
<b>IOTE:</b> The Supply Ac	tuator option is disa the airflow device m	bled and cannot be selected when an exhaust nenu.

ANALOG INPUT
ADD ANALOG OUTPUT
Add
Cancel
The
aird
Usape
Exhaust Actuator
Analog Output 4
Analog Output 4
V
Animum Voltage
2.000
V
ID.000
V
P
Arifive ligut
GEV-6-2
V
Name
DeV-6-2 ACT

#### **Exhaust Actuator**

The Exhaust Actuator output is used to control the exhaust airflow device to meet the target airflow setpoint.

The following settings are available if the Usage is **Exhaust Actuator**.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description					
Port	Analog Output 1 Analog Output 2 Analog Output 3 Analog Output 4	Choose the Analog Output port where the device is physically wired to PACE.					
Airflow Input	Exhaust airflow devices configured on the same PACE.	Allows user to set which valve the actuator is attached to.					
Minimum/Maximum Voltage	0 to 10 Volts	Sets the range of voltage of the actuator. NOTE: The Belimo actuators used by Antec					
Namo	10 Charactere	Controls have a 2-10 VDC range.					
Name		NOTE: This name will display in the BACnet object name.					
JOTE: The Exhaust Actuator option is disabled and cannot be selected when a supply valve							

**NOTE:** The Exhaust Actuator option is disabled and cannot be selected when a supply valve is configured in the airflow device menu.



#### Reheat

Reheat devices are primarily used to control Electric Coils or Hot Water Coils, but can be used for any analog heating device.

The following settings are available if the Usage is **Reheat**.

Variable Name Available Options/Range		Description
Port	Analog Output 1 Analog Output 2 Analog Output 3 Analog Output 4	Choose the Analog Output port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Minimum/Maximum Voltage	0 to 10 Volts	Sets the range of voltage of the heating device.
		<b>NOTE:</b> Check the reheat actuator specifications to input the correct voltage range.
DAT Device	DAT Inputs configured on PACE	When using Space Temperature Control w/ DAT Limits, the Reheat Output must be associated with a DAT Input.
		€ CAUTION ▼
		It is recommended that the Space Temperature Control w/ DAT Limits sequence is configured prior to the Reheat Analog Output. If the sequence is changed after the Output is configured, the user will have to reconfigure the Reheat Output.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this output.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.

**NOTE:** When using firmware version v1.1.0 or earlier, the room will be limited to a maximum of five Heating/Cooling output devices.



Used to output the current room pressure reading via an analog signal. Primarily used when a 3<sup>rd</sup> party device requires a room pressure reading from PACE. For example, an Room Pressure Sensor (RPS) can be configured with PACE to measure the room pressure, this usage then outputs that reading as an analog signal.

Tł	ne i	fol	lowing	settings	are	avai	lab	ble	if t	he	U	sage	is	Room I	Pressure.
----	------	-----	--------	----------	-----	------	-----	-----	------	----	---	------	----	--------	-----------

۷	/ariable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
F	Port	Analog Output 1 Analog Output 2 Analog Output 3 Analog Output 4	Choose the Analog Output port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
N V	/laximum/Minimum /oltage	0 to 10 Volts	Sets the minimum and maximum voltage range. Ensure the voltage range entered here matches the voltage range on the device reading the signal voltage from the PACE.
N V	/aximum/Minimum /alue	Range of Sensor	Sets the minimum and maximum value. Ensure the value range entered here matches the value range for the device reading the signal voltage from the PACE.
Ν	Jame	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this output. <b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.





#### Valve Pressure

Valve Pressure can be used to output a voltage signal for the differential pressure measurement across the Venturi Valve. This may be used when providing the signal to a 3<sup>rd</sup> party controller.

The following settings are available if the Usage is Valve Pressure.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Analog Output 1 Analog Output 2 Analog Output 3 Analog Output 4	Choose the Analog Output port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Voltage	0 to 10 Volts	Sets the minimum and maximum voltage range. Ensure the voltage range entered here matches the voltage range on the device reading the signal voltage from the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Value	Range of Sensor	Sets the minimum and maximum value. Ensure the value range entered here matches the value range for the device reading the signal voltage from the PACE.
Pressure Input	All Venturi Valve pressure devices on RIN	Selects valve pressure measurement to which the output is linked.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this output.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.

#### Valve Airflow

Valve Airflow can be used to output a voltage signal for current airflow reading from a valve on the RIN network. This may be used when providing the signal to a 3<sup>rd</sup> party controller. The following settings are available if the Usage is **Valve Airflow**.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Analog Output 1 Analog Output 2 Analog Output 3 Analog Output 4	Choose the Analog Output port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Voltage	0 to 10 Volts	Sets the minimum and maximum voltage range. Ensure the voltage range entered here matches the voltage range on the device reading the signal voltage from the PACE.
Maximum/Minimum Value	Range of Sensor	Sets the minimum and maximum value. Ensure the value range entered here matches the value range for the device reading the signal voltage from the PACE.
Airflow Input	All Airflow Devices on RIN	Selects valve airflow measurement to which the output is linked.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this output. <b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.





#### Cooling

Cooling devices are primarily used to control cooling coils.

The following settings are available if the Usage is **Cooling**.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Analog Output 1 Analog Output 2 Analog Output 3 Analog Output 4	Choose the Analog Output port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Minimum/Maximum Voltage	0 to 10 Volts	Sets the range of voltage of the cooling device.
		<b>NOTE:</b> Check the cooling actuator specifications
DAT Device	DAT Inputs configured on PACE	When using Space Temperature Control w/ DAT Limits, the Cooling Output must be associated with a DAT Input.
		It is recommended that the Space Temperature Control w/ DAT Limits sequence is configured prior to the Cooling Analog Output. If the sequence is changed after the Output is configured, the user will have to reconfigure the Cooling Output.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this output.

#### **Binary Outputs**

This section details configuration instructions and available settings for binary output devices including room mode, indicator, invert and follow binary input and activate above and below analog thresholds.

**NOTE:** A maximum of two binary outputs can be configured per PACE.

# ADD BINARY OUTPUT Add Cancel Usage Active In Room Mode Coccupied Name RoomMode1

#### Active in Room Mode

Active in Room Mode will trigger the binary output on the selected PACE when in a particular room mode.

The following settings are available if the Usage is Active in Room Mode.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Binary Output 1 Binary Output 2	Choose the Binary Output port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Room Mode	All room modes configured in the room mode manger menu	Sets the room mode that triggers an active signal on the binary output.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this output.
		NOTE: This name will display in the BACnet object

**NOTE:** This name will display in the BACnet object name.

**NOTE:** The room mode to be configured for the output must first be created in the Room Mode Manager before it will be available for selection.

#### Indicator

Indicator will activate the binary output when the selected indicator is triggered. This may be used for a hard-wired signal to a 3<sup>rd</sup> party alarming system, or to trigger an indicator in the room.

The following settings are available if the Usage is Indicator.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Binary Output 1 Binary Output 2	Choose the Binary Output port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Indicator	All indicators	Sets the indicator that triggers an active signal from the binary output.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this output.
		NOTE: This name will display in the BACnet object

ADD BINARY OUTPUT Add Cancel
Usage Follow Binary Input
UpdateSetpoint1 
Name
FollowBinaryInput1

#### **Follow Binary Input**

Follow Binary Input will activate when the configured binary input is in the open state, and deactivate when the configured binary input is in the closed state.

name

#### The following settings are available if the Usage is Follow Binary Input.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Binary Output 1 Binary Output 2	Choose the Binary Output port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Binary Input	All configured binary inputs	Sets the binary input that the binary output will follow.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this output.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.

**NOTE:** The binary input to be configured for the output must first be configured in the PACE Manager menu before it will be available for selection.



ADD BINART OUTPO	11	Add	Cancel
Usage		Port	
Invert Binary Input	*	Binary Ou	tput 1
Binary Input			
GenericBi1	*		
Name			

#### **Invert Binary Input**

Invert Binary Input will activate when a configured binary input is in the closed state, and deactivate when the configured binary input is in the open state.

The following settings are available if the Usage is Invert Binary Input.

······································			
Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description	
Port	Binary Output 1 Binary Output 2	Choose the Binary Output port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.	
Binary Input	All configured binary inputs	Sets the binary input that the binary output will follow.	
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this output.	
		<b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.	

**NOTE:** The binary input to be configured for the output must first be configured in the PACE Manager menu before it will be available for selection.

ADD BINARY OUTPUT	Add Ca	incel
Usage Activate Below Analog Threshold	Port Binary Output 1	Ţ
Analog Device TempSetpoint1 •	Threshold Voltage 5.000	V
Name		
LoAnalogThresh1		

Activate	Below	Analog	Threshold
----------	-------	--------	-----------

Used to configure a binary output to activate when the configured analog device is lower than the specified threshold voltage. This may be used for a hard-wired signal to a 3<sup>rd</sup> party alarming system, or to trigger an alarm indicator in the room.

#### The following settings are available if the Usage is Activate Below Analog Threshold.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Binary Output 1 Binary Output 2	Choose the Binary Output port where the device is physically wired to the PACE.
Analog Device	All configured analog inputs and outputs	Sets the analog device that triggers the binary output when it is below the threshold voltage.
Threshold Voltage	0 to10 Volts	If the input or output voltage drops below this value, the binary output will activate.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this output.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.

**NOTE**: The analog device to be configured for the output must first be configured in the PACE Manager menu before it will be available for selection.

#### Activate Above Analog Threshold

Used to configure a binary output to activate when the configured analog device is higher than the specified threshold voltage. This may be used for a hard-wired signal to a 3<sup>rd</sup> party alarming system, or to trigger an alarm indicator in the room.

#### The following settings are available if the Usage is Activate Above Analog Threshold.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Port	Binary Output 1 Binary Output 2	Sets the port that corresponds to the activate above AI threshold wiring to the PACE.
Analog Device	All configured analog inputs and outputs	Sets the analog device that triggers the binary output when it is above the threshold voltage.
Threshold Voltage	0 to 10 Volts	If the input or output voltage rises above this value, the binary output will activate.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this output.
		NOTE: This name will display in the BACnet object

name

**NOTE:** The analog device input to be configured for the output must first be configured in the PACE Manager menu before it will be available for selection.

ADD BINARY OUTPUT		Add	Cancel
Usage Activate Above Analog Threshold	Ŧ	Port Binary Outp	ut 1
Analog Device TempSetpoint1	*	Threshold Vo 5.000	ltage V
Name HiAnalogThresh1			

#### **Sensor Information Network (SIN) Devices**

The SIN menu is used to configure SIN devices for the selected PACE. Up to three SIN devices can be added to a SIN network in a room.

**NOTE:** To modify a SIN device, the SIN network must be added using the <u>Network Menu</u>. Once connected, any Room Pressure Sensors that are detected will appear underneath SIN devices.

EDIT SIN DEVICE	Save	Cancel
Usepe Pressure Control		
Scale	Offset	
1.500	-0.005	in.w.o
Device Name		
SRPS-3		

#### **SIN Device**

After the SIN device(s) have been discovered on the network, the user will be able to choose the functionality for each of the devices that were discovered.

The following settings are available for each SIN device on the network.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
MAC Address	Read Only	Displays the unique MAC Address for the sensor.
Usage	Pressure Control Pressure Monitor	Sets the functionality for the SIN device to either monitor or control room pressure.
Scale Factor	0.5 to 2.0	Scales PACE's pressure reading by a multiplication. EX: If PACE displays 0.01 in.w.c. and TAB measured 0.011 in.w.c., set the scale to 1.1
Offset	-0.005 to +0.005 in.w.c.	Offsets PACE's pressure reading by a set increment. EX: If PACE displays 0.00 in.w.c. and TAB measures -0.002 in.w.c., set the offset to - 0.002 in.w.c
		<b>NOTE:</b> This should be a secondary balancing tool.
Name	19 Characters	Assigns a name to this SIN device.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This name will display in the BACnet object name.
<b>NOTE:</b> When using the use of all three Manager page	more than one SIN d readings is done in th	levice for Room Pressure measurement, configuring e <u>Airflow Sequence</u> section of the Room Sequence
## **Room Sequence Manager**

The room sequence manager allows the user to set the high level airflow and temperature sequences in a room.

## **General Settings**

+1001000000			= *
NTEC			
KOOK DETAILS	×	ROOM SEQUENCE MANAGER	See Sec.
		Rose Veloce 2 81	
		Richarge Bole Arg (g	under over lives to responses
		A REPORT OF COMPANY	
		Note Learning Hard Office Starting Other and Starting Conservations and Starting Learning of All News Exclusion (Starting) (Starting) References of Starting Kalancing (Starting) (Starting) (Starting) Kalancing (Starting) (Starting) (Starting) Kalancing (Starting) (Starting) (Starting) (Starting) Kalancing (Starting) (	Najvolival E bigul E Executor E Research E Presso Declard Curro Punz Research E H2
		TEMPERATURE SEQUENCE	
		Server a server 2000 Hitpertain Alth 247 Units Provide Annual 2	Elit Link Control Experiment 12
		Annual Annual Constant	Falsyad 275

#### **General Settings**

Configures the general room settings.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Room Name	19 characters	Allows the user to set the name of the room.
		<b>NOTE:</b> The name will appear as the controller's name when discovered on BACnet.
Room Volume	0 to 32,767 ft <sup>3</sup> 0 to 928 m <sup>3</sup>	Allows the user to set the volume of the room. The volume is used to calculate the air changes per hour (ACH) for the room.
		<b>NOTE:</b> If performing a DCV sequence, the room volume must be entered.
Air Change Basis	Supply Exhaust	Allows the user to select the airflow direction that will be used to calculate the ACH value for the room.
		<b>NOTE:</b> The air change basis will set the minimum and maximum flow type (supply or exhaust) to be configured in the room mode manager.
		EX: If air change basis is set to supply, the supply flow minimum, supply heating flow maximum, supply cooling flow maximum and offset will be available for configuration.

## **Airflow Sequence**

See below for descriptions of the different types of Airflow Sequences supported by PACE and how the settings will affect the room control.

		Flow Offset Control
AIRFLOW SEQUENCE		The primary controlled variable in offset flow control is the difference between the total supply air and the total exhaust air in the space. The control system is responsible for ensuring the offset is maintained at all times. Flow offset is a fast, stable solution to effectively control airflow in a critical space.
Control Method Exhaust and Supply Exhaust and Supply		The user selects an air change basis of either supply or exhaust. The air change basis will dictate which flow direction sets the minimum required air changes in the space. After the minimum air change basis is met, the room will target the airflow offset setpoint and allows both the exhaust and supply actuators to drive to target values. Once target values have been achieved, the room uses its control method to maintain target values.
Supply Only		<b>EX:</b> If exhaust is selected as the air change basis, the exhaust flow minimum and exhaust heat/cooling flow maximum will have to be set in the <u>Room Mode Manager</u> .
Exhaust Only		The following settings are available when the Airflow Sequence is <b>Flow Offset Control</b> .
Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
	Exhaust and Supply	The exhaust will modulate to maintain the room's airflow offset setpoint. If the exhaust reaches its control limit, then the supply valves will modulate to maintain the room offset. Additionally, for temperature control the user enters a heating maximum and cooling maximum based on the air change basis. The supply valves will modulate further open to meet temperature demand to a maximum of the heating or cooling max, as required.
		<b>NOTE:</b> Setting the air change basis is critical for the direction of the room flow minimum in the Room Mode Manager.
Control Method	Supply Only	The supply will modulate to maintain the room's airflow offset setpoint. The user enters a heating maximum and cooling maximum based on the air change basis. The supply valves will modulate further open to meet temperature demand to a maximum of the heating or cooling max, as required.
		<b>Q</b> CAUTION -
		In the case that the supply has reached its control limit, a capacity error will be displayed.
	Exhaust Only	The exhaust will modulate to maintain the room's airflow offset setpoint. The user enters a heating maximum and cooling maximum based on the air change basis. The supply valves will modulate further open to meet temperature demand to a maximum of the heating or cooling max, as required.

<b>6 D</b>	CAUTION
	CAUTION

•

		In the case that the exhaust has reached its control limit, a capacity error will be
		displayed.
Static Supply Flow	No Limits	Enter any supply flow that is coming from an uncontrolled, unmonitored source
Static Exhaust Flow	No Limits	Enter any exhaust flow that is coming from an uncontrolled, unmonitored source
Static Exhaust Flow	No Limits	Enter any exhaust flow that is coming from an uncontrolled, unmonitored source

Airford Sequence Controls Antiferra Constant		Proportional	U		
supply almow com	04 -		Integral	U	
Supply Only			Derivative	U	
Printing General Drampy Average All Seminary			Integral Cap	U	
Static Supply Flow	D	CTM.	Pressure Deadband	0.000	Inwa
Static Educati Flow		1794	Recovery Time	U	sec

#### Supply Airflow Control

The supply airflow control sequence allows the user to configure a room in which PACE is the only controlling supply airflow valves. To select supply airflow control, no controlled exhaust valves can be present in the room.

The following settings are available when the Airflow Sequence is Supply Airflow Control.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Control Method	Supply Only	The user enters a Supply Airflow setpoint that will be held at a constant value by all supply valves in the room.
Static Supply Flow	No Limits	Enter any supply flow that is coming from an uncontrolled, unmonitored source.
Static Exhaust Flow	No Limits	Enter any exhaust flow that is coming from an uncontrolled, unmonitored source.
NOTE: Supply airflov	v control limits the ai	r change basis to supply.

#### Exhaust Airflow Control

The exhaust airflow control sequence allows the user to configure a room in which PACE is the only controller exhaust airflow valves. To select exhaust airflow control, no controlled supply valves can be present in the room.

The following settings are available when the Airflow Sequence is **Exhaust Airflow Control**.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Control Method	Exhaust Only	The user enters an Exhaust Airflow setpoint that will be held at a constant value by all exhaust valves in the room.
Static Supply Flow	No Limits	Enter any supply flow that is coming from an uncontrolled, unmonitored source.
Static Exhaust Flow	No Limits	Enter any exhaust flow that is coming from an uncontrolled, unmonitored source.
NOTE: Exhaust airflo	w control limits the	air change basis to exhaust.

Airtion Sequence Exhaust Airtiow Con	tool +		Propertional	U	
Control Method			Integral	U	
Exhaust Only	-		Derivative	U	
Printin Senier Stringy Average All Seniors			Integral Cap	U	
Static Supply Row	D	CTM	Pressure Deadband	0.000	Inwa
Static Folgand Flow	p	GTM	Recovery Time	U	sec

Alfor Sequence			Propertienal	0	
Avasone Control	*				
Control Michigal			Integral	20	
Schourt Only	*		Derhattes	0	
Second Second Second					
werage All Sensors			Integral Cap	100	
Static Supply Flow	٥	CTM	Pressure Deadbard	0.001	inwo.
			Receiver Line		1.000

#### **Pressure Control**

The primary controlled variable in pressure control is the pressure differential between the controlled room and an adjacent space. Pressure control requires a room pressure reading through SIN or an analog input. The control system is responsible for ensuring the pressure is maintained at all times. Pressure control typically requires tuning, but is capable of accurately controlling to a target room pressure.

The following settings are available when the Airflow Sequence is **Pressure Control**.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
	Supply Only	The user enters a fixed Exhaust Airflow setpoint. The supply will modulate to maintain room pressure.
Control Method		<b>NOTE</b> : Supply only pressure control limits the air change basis to the exhaust.
control Method	Exhaust Only	The user enters a fixed Supply Airflow setpoint. The exhaust will modulate to maintain room pressure.
		<b>NOTE</b> : Exhaust only pressure control limits the air change basis to the supply.
Static Supply Flow	No Limits	Enter any supply flow that is coming from an uncontrolled, unmonitored source.
Static Exhaust Flow	No Limits	Enter any exhaust flow that is coming from an uncontrolled, unmonitored source.
Pressure Sensor Strategy	Average sensors Use lowest Use highest	When using multiple room pressure sensors, the user can choose to average all readings, use the lowest reading or use the highest reading.
		<b>NOTE:</b> BACnet will only display one reading for the Room Pressure based on the selected value for the Pressure Sensor Strategy.
PID Pressure Control		The PID pressure control settings allows the user to adjust proportional, integral, integral cap and derivative values.
Pressure Deadband	No Limits	Allows the user to adjust the deadband where the room pressure will be considered satisfied. No adjustments will be made to the airflow as long as the pressure remains in the deadband.
Recovery Time	No Limits	If door switches are installed, they will freeze the PID control when the door is open. Recovery time is the time from when the door is closed to when the PID control will re-engage.

## **Temperature Sequence**

See below for a description of the two temperature sequences available when working with PACE.

....

Imperature Sequence		Space Tempo	rature Control	DAT Limit Co	ontrol
space remperature control	- I	Proportional	2	Proportional	1.3
werage All Sensors		Integral	0.005	Integral	0.06
		Derivative	0	Derivative	20

#### Space Temperature Control

Space temperature control uses room temperature readings and responds accordingly based on the PID settings. Temperature in most spaces can be controlled successfully with this temperature sequence.

The following settings are available when the using Space Temperature Control.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Temperature Sensor Strategy	Average All Sensors Use Lowest Use Highest	The temperature sensor strategy appears when multiple room temperature readings are present in a single temperature zone. It allows the user to select how the room temperature for each zone is calculated and how to use the multiple readings in the temperature control algorithm.
Space Temp. Control (PID)		The space temperature control PID settings allows the user to adjust proportional, integral, integral cap and derivative values.

#### Space Temperature with DAT Limits

Space temperature control with DAT limits utilizes room temperature readings in conjunction with control of the DAT. As more or less heating is required in the space, the DAT target will raise or lower and the reheat will adjust to meet the DAT target within the acceptable limits set for each room mode. This temperature control method can provide increased stability and is useful in rooms with high air changes per hour (ex: >20 ACH)

The following settings are available when the using Sp	pace Temperature with DAT Limits.
--	-----------------------------------

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Temperature Sensor Strategy		The temperature sensor strategy appears when multiple room temperature readings are present in a single temperature zone. It allows the user to select how the room temperature for each zone is calculated and how to use the multiple readings in the temperature control algorithm.
Space Temp. Control (PID)		The space temperature control PID settings allows the user to adjust proportional, integral, integral cap and derivative values.
DAT Temp. Limit Control (PID)		The discharge air temperature limit control PID settings allows the user to adjust proportional, integral, integral cap and derivative values.

Respondure Sequence		Space Tempo	pace Temperature Control DAT Limit		Control	
Space Temperature with DAT Limits	-	Proportional	2	Proportional	1.3	
		Integral	0.005	Integral	0.06	
		Derivative	0	Derivative	20	
		Integral Cap	100	Integral Cap	100	

## **Demand Control Ventilation (DCV) Sequence**

See below for a description of the DCV sequencing and available options.

DCV SEQUENCE	E	,
ACH Target Source ACH1 *		

#### **Demand Control Ventilation (DCV)**

Demand control ventilation utilizes an ACH demand to ensure that contamination in the room remains within acceptable standards. Typically, labs with these systems are allowed to operate down to 2 ACH. If contaminants in the room are detected, a demand signal will be provided to PACE to increase the ACH in the room. If this demand exceeds the current temperature demand, then the airflow in the space will be increased to match the DCV's ACH demand.

The following settings are available when the **DCV** has been enabled.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
ACH Target	All configured	The user can select from any analog inputs that
Source	ACH inputs	have been configured for the ACH usage.
NOTE: To use the D	CV sequence a room	volume must be entered in the Room Sequence

Manager.

## **Room Mode Manager**

Room modes can be used to command the room into different states of operation where different airflow or temperature setpoints are required. Examples would include, but are not limited to Occupied, Unoccupied and Emergency modes.

## **Types of Room Modes**

There are two main types of room modes:

**Default Room Mode:** Toolbox creates the default room mode the first time a user connects to PACE. The default room mode is meant for the basic operation of the room and will populate based on some general information contained in the linestrings for all the valves in the room. The default room mode is the lowest priority room mode. PACE will only operate in this mode if no other room mode is currently activated.

**User Created Room Modes:** The user has the ability to create up to five custom room modes. This allows the user to customize room modes that may require different airflow or temperature control setpoints for different control conditions in the space. The most common applications would be Unoccupied or Emergency modes.

NOTE: Users may create up to five User Created Room Modes.

## **Airflow**

See below for the available settings when configuring the airflow setpoints for the Default Room Mode and any User Created Room Modes.

**NOTE:** Available settings change based on previously selected settings, see below for a description of the settings available for different scenarios.

DOM MOD	Sale	Carcel			
Add Room Mode					
Occupied					
AINFLOW					
fottive -					
Supply Firm	90	0W			
Supply Flew Heating Maximum	90	CFM			
Supply film Casiling Maximum	90	CFM			
Offset Selpoint	0	OLN.			
TEMPERATURE					
Zear 11	75.0		Low DAT Limit	383	q.
Reference School			High DAT Cash	912	7
			Temperature	1.0	= 15

### Flow Offset Control with Supply ACH Basis

The supply will be used to dictate the ACH in the room. The user will provide supply flow setpoints for the room's operation.

The following settings are available with Flow Offset Control and Supply ACH Basis.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Pressurization	Positive Negative	Set either a negative or positive room pressurization.
Supply Flow Minimum	Minimum to Maximum Range of Valve	The minimum scheduled supply flow allowed in the space to maintain the necessary air changes for this room mode.
Supply Flow Heating Maximum	<i>Supply Flow Minimum</i> to Maximum Range of Valve	The maximum scheduled supply heating flow allowed in the space to maintain temperature demand.
Supply Flow Cooling Maximum	<i>Supply Flow</i> <i>Minimum</i> to Maximum Range of Valve	The maximum scheduled supply cooling flow allowed in the space to maintain temperature demand.
Room Offset Setpoint	No Limits	The fixed offset between the supply and exhaust flows. As the supply modulates between its Minimum and Maximum, the exhaust will track to maintain this fixed offset. <b>NOTE:</b> This value is always entered as a positive number. The Pressurization dropdown will select
		whether the exhaust will offset with a higher or lower value than the supply.

OOM MOD	E MANAG	SER		Save	Cancel
and some table					
Occupied					
ARFLOW					
Positive v					
Eahaast Raw Minimum	a	CFM			
Falward Raw Heating Nadmum	a	сти			
Falsand Haw Cooling Maximum	đ	CFM			
Offset Scipolat	500	014			
TEMPERATURE					
Zone #1	. 75.0		Low DAT Links		т
temperatur belgen			High DAT Deale	93.0	7
			Temperature Control Deedbord	14	± 17

#### Flow Offset Control with Exhaust ACH Basis

The exhaust will be used to dictate the ACH in the room. The user will provide exhaust flow setpoints for the room's operation.

#### The following settings are available with Flow Offset Control and Exhaust ACH Basis.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Pressurization	Positive Negative	Set either a negative or positive room pressurization.
Exhaust Flow Minimum	Minimum to Maximum Range of Valve	The minimum scheduled exhaust flow allowed out of the space to maintain the necessary air changes for this room mode.
Exhaust Flow Heating Maximum	<i>Exhaust Flow</i> <i>Minimum</i> to Maximum Range of Valve	The maximum scheduled exhaust heating flow allowed in the space to maintain temperature demand.
Exhaust Flow Cooling Maximum	<i>Exhaust Flow</i> <i>Minimum</i> to Maximum Range of Valve	The maximum scheduled exhaust cooling flow allowed in the space to maintain temperature demand.
Room Offset Setpoint	No Limits	The fixed offset between the supply and exhaust flows. As the exhaust modulates between its Minimum and Maximum, the supply will track to maintain this fixed offset.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This value is always entered as a positive number. The Pressurization dropdown will dictate whether the exhaust will offset with a higher or lower value than the supply.

Acid Rome Mode					
coupled					
AIRFLOW					
inggely Flow Ministern	200	CFM			
upply Fire leading Madmam	1,000	спи			
upply filew Looking Maximum	1,000	CFM			
IMPERATURE					
	75.0	15	Lee DAT Liek	30.0	4
Geoperature Setpoint			High DAT Link	83.0	4
			Temperature Control Developed	1.0	+ 17

#### Supply Airflow Control

The supply will be used to dictate the ACH in the room. The user will provide supply flow setpoints for the room's operation.

#### The following settings are available with Supply Airflow Control.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Supply Flow Minimum	Minimum to Maximum Range of Valve	The minimum scheduled supply flow allowed in the space to maintain the necessary air changes for this room mode.
Supply Flow Heating Maximum	<i>Supply Flow Minimum</i> to Maximum Range of Valve	The maximum scheduled supply heating flow allowed in the space to maintain temperature demand.
Supply Flow Cooling Maximum	<i>Supply Flow Minimum</i> to Maximum Range of Valve	The maximum scheduled supply cooling flow allowed in the space to maintain temperature demand.

OOM MODE	MANAG	ER		2012	Cancel
ald Room trade					
Occupied					
ARFLOW					
Extense Flow Minimum	200	C94			
Lahourt How Heating Maximum	1,000	сям			
Exhaust Flags Cooling Maximum	1,000	OW			
TEMPERATURE					
Zee 11	75.8	· .	Low DAT Limit	90.0	4
inspired a square			High DAT Links	95.0	a
			Temperature Control Developed	1.0	±4

#### **Exhaust Airflow Control**

The exhaust will be used to dictate the ACH in the room. The user will provide exhaust flow setpoints for the room's operation.

#### The following settings are available with Exhaust Airflow Control.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Exhaust Flow Minimum	Minimum to Maximum Range of Valve	The minimum scheduled exhaust flow allowed out of the space to maintain the necessary air changes for this room mode.
Exhaust Flow Heating Maximum	<i>Exhaust Flow</i> <i>Minimum</i> to Maximum Range of Valve	The maximum scheduled exhaust heating flow allowed in the space to maintain temperature demand.
Exhaust Flow Cooling Maximum	<i>Exhaust Flow Minimum</i> to Maximum Range of Valve	The maximum scheduled exhaust cooling flow allowed in the space to maintain temperature demand.

DOM MODE M	ANAGER			Swe	Cancel
Add toom Mode					
Occupied					
AIRFLOW					
Presultation Positive +					
Fahavat Flow 0	CEM				
Educet Flow Heating Maximum 0	CEM				
Educet Flow Cooling Maximum 0	сям				
Pressure Setpoint 0.02	D INNO				
TEMPERATURE					
40ec #1 77	и т	Los	e DAT Limit	50.0	۴
remperature Setpoint		10	h DAT Link	90.0	*
		ler Ca	nperature strol Deadband	1.0	± 17
		Ca	TITCI LIRASDASC		

#### Pressure Control with Supply ACH Basis Only

The supply will be set to modulate for temperature demand and the user will then set a pressure setpoint for the room.

#### The following settings are available with Pressure Control with Supply ACH Basis.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Pressurization	Positive Negative	Set either a negative or positive room pressurization.
Supply Flow Minimum	Minimum to Maximum Range of Valve	The minimum scheduled supply flow allowed in the space to maintain the necessary air changes for this room mode.
Supply Flow Heating Maximum	Minimum to Maximum Range of Valve	The maximum scheduled supply heating flow allowed in the space to maintain temperature demand.
Supply Flow Cooling Maximum	Minimum to Maximum Range of Valve	The maximum scheduled supply cooling flow allowed in the space to maintain temperature demand.
Pressure Setpoint	No Limits	Sets the pressure control setpoint for the room. The exhaust valve will modulate until the room's pressure setpoint is satisfied.

#### **Pressure Control with Exhaust ACH Basis**

The exhaust will be set to modulate for temperature demand and the user will then set a pressure setpoint for the room.

#### The following settings are available with **Pressure Control** with **Exhaust ACH Basis**.

Available Options/Range	Description
Positive Negative	Set either a negative or positive room pressurization.
Minimum to Maximum Range of Valve	The minimum scheduled exhaust flow allowed in the space to maintain the necessary air changes for this room mode.
Minimum to Maximum Range of Valve	The maximum scheduled exhaust heating flow allowed in the space to maintain temperature demand.
Minimum to Maximum Range of Valve	The maximum scheduled exhaust cooling flow allowed in the space to maintain temperature demand.
No Limits	Sets the pressure control setpoint for the room. The supply valve will modulate until the room's pressure setpoint is satisfied.
	Available Options/Range Positive Negative Minimum to Maximum Range of Valve Minimum to Maximum Range of Valve Minimum to Maximum Range of Valve No Limits

DOM MODE	e Manai	SER		Save	Canod
Add Room Mode					
Occupied					
AIRELOW					
Positive -					
Supply How We know	0	CPM			
Supply Flow Heating Maximum	U	CRM			
Supply Flow Cooling Maximum	0	CTM			
Prosent Scipelini	0.020	inws.			
TEMPERATURE					
7000 ¥1	. 75.0		Low DAT Limit	50.0	٩٢
temperature Setprin			High DAT Limit	90.0	ч
			Imperature Control Development	1.0	1.7

## **Temperature**

See below for the available settings when configuring the temperature setpoints for the Default Room Mode and any User Created Room Modes.

Zone #1 Temperature Setpoint	75.0	*F	Low DAT Limit		Ŧ
			High DAT Limit	90.0	Ŧ
			Temperature	1.0	

#### Temperature

Temperature setpoints are fully customizable for any room modes. Different setpoints can be set for room modes that require tighter temperature control or a wider range of acceptable temperature control.

The following set	tings are available	for All Room Modes
-------------------	---------------------	--------------------

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Zone #1 Temperature Set Point	No Limits	Allows the user to configure the temperature setpoint for Zone #1. Additional fields will be available when using multiple temperature zones.
		<b>NOTE</b> : This value is only available if there is no Analog Input configured for Temperature Setpoint.
Low DAT Limit	No Limits (when lower than the High DAT Limit)	The DAT control will not drop below this temperature value. If further cooling is required and the DAT has already reached this limit, the coil will not provide any cooler air.
		w/ DAT Limits is selected.
High DAT Limit	No Limits (when higher than the Low DAT Limit)	The DAT control will not rise above this temperature value. If further heating is required and the DAT has already reached this limit, the coil will not provide any hotter air.
		<b>NOTE:</b> Only available if Space Temperature Control w/ DAT Limits is selected.
Temperature Control Deadband	0 to 10 F	Sets the deadband where the room temperature control will be considered satisfied. When in this deadband, the reheat and any added airflow will remain set in that position until heating or cooling are required.
		<b>NOTE:</b> The temperature control deadband sets the amount of degrees away from the set point that the temperature control PID loop initiates.

## **Additional Features**

See below for the available settings for User Created Room Modes.

				-		-
Mode Entry Delay	D	585	Mode Exit Delay	U	P.	<i>a</i> :
AIRFLOW						
Pressurization Desiding of					Supply December	
PUMPA					No Override	*
Supply Flow Minimum	1,000	CEM			Dihaun Overlide	
Supply Row Heating Maximum	1,000	CTM			No Overnoe	-
Supply How Cooling Maximum	1,000	CFM				
Offeet Setpoint	100	CTM				
TEMPERATURE						
Zone #1			Low DAT Limit	50.0	12	
Temperature Setpoir			High DAT Limit	50.0	19	
			T			

### **Additional Features**

The following setting	s are available for <b>U</b>	ser Created Room Modes.
Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Room Mode Name	19 Characters	Customizable room name for simple identification of the available room modes. Click on the name to edit the field.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This field is also editable for the occupied room mode if a different name is desired to be displayed on BACnet, but it will still behave like an 'occupied' room mode.
Trigger Alarm	On/Off	Trigger an indicator whenever the room mode is active.
Priority	# of User Created Room Modes	Sets the priority of User Created Room modes if two are activated simultaneously.
Mode Entry Delay	No Limits	Time from when the mode input is triggered to when PACE will change to this room mode.
Mode Exit Delay	No Limits	Time from when the mode input is not triggered to when PACE will change to the default room mode.
Supply Override	Fully Open Fully Closed	Forces the supply valve(s) to a full open or full closed position.
Exhaust Override	Fully Open Fully Closed	Forces the exhaust valve(s) to a full open or full closed position.

**NOTE:** When using Supply or Exhaust Override functions within a room mode, room offset and airflow setpoints are not maintained.



If an indicator is required for a Room Mode (i.e. for Emergency or Purge) then the Trigger Alarm option must be checked here.

## **Airflow Staging**

Airflow staging displays the operating airflow range of each supply or exhaust valve in the room.

In its simplest form, with only one supply and one exhaust valve, this should simply show the operating range of both valves. In larger rooms with multiple supply or exhaust valves, the airflow staging menu allows the user to stage specific supply or exhaust valves to react first in the system. The valves in each stage will move from the minimum to maximum flows set in the airflow device menu before moving onto the next stage. Usually the maximum and minimum are set to the full operating range of the valve.

NOTE: Fume hood exhausts will not appear in the airflow staging menu.

AIRFLOW S	TAGING		Save	Cancel
SUPPLY				O Add Step
Stage 1				
SAV-1 ACT	MIN Stage Airflow: 35 (CPM)	MAX Stage Airflow:	700 (CFM)	
SAV-2 ACT	MIN Stage Airfow: 35 (CFM)	MAX Stage Airflow	700 (CFM)	
SAV-3 ACT	MIN Stage Airflow: 35 (CFM)	MAX Stage Airflow:	700 (CFM)	
SUPPLY				<ul> <li>Dalete Stag</li> </ul>
SUPPLY Stage 1				<ul> <li>Delete Stag</li> </ul>
SUPPLY Stage 1 SAV-1 ACT	MIN Stage Authore: 35 (CPM)	MAX Stage Artfore	700 (CFM)	<ul> <li>Dakriv Stag</li> <li>Ø</li> </ul>
SUPPLY Slage 1 SAV-1 ACT SAV-2 ACT	MIN Stage Artibac <b>35 (CFM)</b> MIN Stage Artibac <b>35 (CFM)</b>	MAX Stage Arribox MAX Stage Arribox	700 (CFM) 700 (CFM)	© Dukto Sug
SUPPLY Stepe 1 SAV-1 ACT SAV-2 ACT SAV-3 ACT	MIN Stage Airflow: 35 (CFM) MIN Stage Airflow: 35 (CFM) MIN Stage Airflow: 35 (CFM)	MAX Stage Airflow MAX Stage Airflow MAX Stage Airflow	700 (CFM) 700 (CFM) 700 (CFM)	<ul> <li>Duktor Star</li> <li></li></ul>
SUPPLY Stage 1 SAV-1 ACT SAV-2 ACT SAV-3 ACT Stage 2	MIN Stage Airflow: <b>35 (CPM)</b> MIN Stage Airflow: <b>35 (CPM)</b> MIN Stage Airflow: <b>35 (CPM)</b>	MAX Stage Artfore MAX Stage Artfore MAX Stage Artfore	703 (CFM) 703 (CFM) 703 (CFM)	<ul> <li>Dubtv Stag</li> <li>Dubtv Stag</li> <li>Dubtv Stag</li> </ul>

#### Moving Valves to a New Stage

A stage can be added in the airflow staging menu by selecting Add Stage.

Clicking the vertical arrow button next to SAV-2 ACT will open the following prompt to move the valve into a different stage.



SAV-2 will now appear underneath Stage 2 and will remain at its minimum flow until SAV-1 and SAV-3 have been fully opened.



 Skill
 Skill
 Cancel

 SUPPLY
 © Delete Stage
 Stage 1

 SAV 1 ACT
 Mill Stage Airflow: 38 (CFM)
 MAX Stage Airflow: 700 (CFM)
 Image: Stage 2

 SAV 2 ACT
 Mill Stage Airflow: 35 (CFM)
 MAX Stage Airflow: 700 (CFM)
 Image: Stage 2

 SAV 2 ACT
 Mill Stage Airflow: 35 (CFM)
 MAX Stage Airflow: 700 (CFM)
 Image: Stage 2

 SAV 2 ACT
 Mill Stage Airflow: 35 (CFM)
 MAX Stage Airflow: 700 (CFM)
 Image: Stage 3



Triple or Quad Venturi Valves are considered 2 airflow devices, and therefore count as 2 airflow devices in the airflow stage.

This excludes 2-P valves (with relay), 2-P valves (with PACE) and Mechanical Constant Volume VV.



Multiple airflow stages are only available if the room has only one Temperature Zone.

## **Temperature Zones**

Allows the user to configure the specifics of the temperature control settings, either creating multiple stages or multiple temperature zones.

#### 

#### **Temperature Zones**

Staging allows the user to configure reheat devices and/or additional airflow to work in synchronization or in staged response for temperature control.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Reheat	0 to 100%	A reheat device will automatically populate in Stage
		1 of the heating sequence after the user has
		configured an analog output for a reheat device.
Add Airflow to	0 to (Maximum	Added airflow can be applied to heating or cooling
Staging	value set in Room	stages. The added airflow maximum is set for
	Mode Manager)	heating and cooling in the Room Mode Manager.
Add Heating Stage	Selection	Allows the user to add an additional heating stage.
		After the stage has been created, clicking the
		vertical arrows next to a reheat device or added
		airflow will allow the user to move the selection to
		another stage.
		NOTE: Adding a heating stage is only available if
		multiple heating items are in Heating.
Remove Heating	Selection	Removes additional heating stages. Moves all
Stage		devices or airflow in that stage to Stage 1.
Add Cooling Stage	Selection	Allows the user to add an additional cooling stage.
		After the stage has been created, clicking the
		vertical arrows next to added airflow will allow the
		user to move the selection to another stage.
		NOTE: Adding a cooling stage is only available if
		multiple cooling items are in Cooling.
Remove Cooling	Selection	Removes additional cooling stages. Moves all
Stage		devices or airflow in that stage to Stage 1.
Remove Airflow	Selection	Removes additional airflow from either heating or
from Staging		cooling stages.
Add Zone	Selection	Allows the user to add an additional temperature
		zone to the room.
		To move devices to a new zone the location butto
		next to the device can be selected. To add
		airflow to a new zone select add airflow to staging
		NOTE: Airflow staging cannot be implemented if a
		additional zone is added.
Remove Zone	Selection	Allows the user to remove an additional
		temperature zone in the room.
		<b>Q</b> CAUTION <b>•</b>
		A maximum of 5 reheat devices are

A maximum of 5 reheat devices are allowed in a single stage. If more than 5 reheat devices are present in a room, it is recommended that the room is divided into multiple temperature zones.



When staging devices in the temperature zones menu, all devices in Stage 1, including a reheat and added airflow, will modulate to 100% capacity or until the setpoint is reached. If the setpoint is reached before 100% is reached, the value will hold as long as the setpoint is satisfied. If the setpoint is not reached, then all devices in Stage 2 will begin to modulate until the setpoint is reached.

## Indicators

Indicators are also known as alarms. They typically indicate when a desired room condition is not being achieved or may indicate that there is a problem with the operating conditions in the room. These indicators will be displayed locally in Toolbox when a technician is working in the room and are also transmitted to the BAS via BACnet for remote alarming.

ANTEC TOOLBOX		- 🗆 X
		VOU ARE CONNECTED
ROOM DETAILS +	INDICATORS	Save Cancel
AIRFLOW +		
TEMPERATURE +	Valve Pressure	Alarm Delay 30 seconds * +
ENVIRONMENT +	Valve Airflow	Alarm Delay 30 seconds + +
BACNET +	Room Pressure	Alarm Delay 30 seconds + +
INDICATORS +	Diversity	Alarm Delay 30 seconds = +
	Door Open	Alarm Delay seconds - +
	Binary Input	Alarm Delay 30 seconds * +



The Controller Offline indicator is enabled by default with a delay of 0 seconds.

H1001001004		=
MTEContrals		🕗 TOU ARE CONSIGNED
outcoas -	INDICATORS	Xav Coul
	Valve Pressure	Alam Onliny as records
NAME OF T	Norm Notetic: El occupied	
	Savid 2 mp	Last COM actas
	High Carlos	
	540-52.00	shirt area leves
	Velvo del lev	Destroy V Search
	Search Processor	Randblog W. Guarde -
	Diversity	Almofely 3 country
	Deer Open	Alters Delay age seconds = -
	Server Lagrant	Alexander as serveds

#### Valve Pressure

Valve pressure indicators are recommended when using Venturi Valves as they are designed to operate within specific pressure differential ranges.

The following settings are available for Valve Pressure indicators.

Available Options/Range	Description
No Limits	Time delay before the indicator becomes active.
All configured room modes	Select which Room Mode the indicator will be enabled.
	<b>NOTE:</b> If a room mode is not checked, the indicator will not activate.
No Limits	Sets the low limit for the indicator. Should match the low limit on the Specification label of the valve.
No Limits	Sets the high limit for the indicator. Should match the high limit on the Specification label of the valve.
	Available Options/Range No Limits All configured room modes No Limits No Limits

MTECant		E ·
NOME THAT AND A DESCRIPTION OF A DESCRIP		
	INDICATORS	Xaw Ganal
107 MAX 104	When Decome	Altern Onley seconds = +
THE REAL PROPERTY.	Weber Aleffinie	Alam fieldy as serveds
	Roma Model(): [] cocupied	
	SW-62	that A cost
	High Unite Gaves 2	L al 200 (201
	Rear Proven	Anality W such - •
	Simsty	Alastiday (g) (seconds = 1
	Diser Open	Alterniteley as seconds = +
	Stray Light	danshiry go serves

#### Valve Airflow

Valve airflow indicators are recommended when using a Venturi FX Valve or a Terminal Unit.

The following settings are available for Valve Airflow indicators.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Alarm Trigger Delay	No Limits	Time delay before the indicator becomes active.
Room Mode(s)	All configured room modes	Select which Room Mode the indicator will be enabled.
		<b>NOTE:</b> If a room mode is not checked, the indicator will not activate.
Low Limits	No Limits	Sets the low limit for the indicator. Recommended to be the scheduled minimum of the valve.
High Limits	No Limits	Sets the high limit for the indicator. Recommended to be the scheduled maximum of the valve.

MTECart		E rouves consistence a
NONDCHAS	INDICATORS	Yes Paral
INCOMES CONT	White Pressure	Altern Onley seconds
The second second	Mar 201 m	Alam Delay seconds =
	1 Doors Pressure	clamically as manda
	<ul> <li>Boon Notekii: Drumper I</li> </ul>	tan <u>180</u> was tant fill was
	Simuly	Alasticky () see 6 - 1
	Doer Open	Alambeley as seconds -
	Standard	Alamately go presidents

#### **Room Pressure**

Room Pressure indicators are recommended when using pressure control or when room pressure monitoring is utilized.

The following settings are available for Room Pressure indicators.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Alarm Trigger Delay	No Limits	Time delay before the indicator becomes active.
Room Mode(s)	All configured room modes	Select which Room Mode the indicator will be enabled.
		<b>NOTE:</b> If a room mode is not checked, the indicator will not activate.
Low Limits	No Limits	Sets the low limit for the indicator.
High Limits	No Limits	Sets the high limit for the indicator.



#### Diversity

Diversity alarms indicate when the flow offset is not capable of being achieved based on the demand required by fume hoods. Diversity is typically only seen in large labs that may be designed to operate with only a limited portion of the hoods open at any given time.

The following settings are available for **Diversity** indicators.

Available Options/Range	Description
No Limits	Time delay before the indicator becomes active.
All configured room modes	Select which Room Mode the indicator will be enabled. NOTE: If a room mode is not checked, the indicator
	Available Options/Range No Limits All configured room modes



#### Door Open

Door alarms are typically used when using pressure control or pressure monitoring in a room. This allows users to better understand why a room cannot maintain room pressure. Without this door alarm, a user would simply be presented with a Low Pressure Alarm, even though the true issue is that the door is left open.

The following settings are available for **Door Open** indicators.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Alarm Trigger Delay	No Limits	Time delay before the indicator becomes active.
Room Mode(s)	All configured room modes	Select which Room Mode the indicator will be enabled.
		<b>NOTE:</b> If a room mode is not checked, the indicator will not activate.
Triggers	All door contact inputs	All devices capable of triggering the indicator.

NTEC souther		VOUNIS CONSIGNED
NOMOCHAIS	INDICATORS	Xav Gaul
	*	
	White December	Altern Oeley seconds =
romonium r	- Weber Address	Alam Odey seconds -
	1 Doors Possilian	classicality or monder-
	* Zvenity	Alendaday <u>w</u> aarak -
	Joerdyen	Alam balay to tacordo
	Minary Input	Alanifyly V stank
	Room Mattels's 📄 Completi	
	Digger	

#### **Binary Input**

A specific binary input can be used to trigger an indicator. This may be useful if another system is sending an alarm signal to PACE.

The following settings are available for **Binary Input** indicators.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Alarm Trigger Delay	No Limits	Time delay before the indicator becomes active.
Room Mode(s)	All configured room modes	Select which Room Mode the indicator will be enabled.
		<b>NOTE:</b> If a room mode is not checked, the indicator will not activate.
Triggers	All Binary Inputs	All devices capable of triggering the indicator.

## **Advanced BACnet Settings**

Advanced BACnet settings allows the user to create a custom naming and numbering convention for BACnet points being sent out by PACE. This is a useful tool if a customer would like a common convention across all devices on their network.





The Advanced BACnet Settings page shows the BACnet Points list for the most up-to-date firmware release. If using the newest Toolbox version with older firmware versions, the points list shown may not match the points list available on BACnet.

## How Object numbers are created for Inputs and Outputs

Object ID	How it is created				
<u>Al</u> #1	Based on the input/output type. <b>Ex:</b> Al11 shown above is an Analog Input.				
Al <u>#</u> 1	The # indicates the Controller Enumeration. Every PACE on RIN is assigned a unique Enumeration based on the type of valve and the BACnet points will be assigned based on that enumeration. <b>Ex:</b> Al11 shown above is on the #1 PACE in the room.				
	Controller Enumeration is created in the following order:				
	•Supply Air Valves				
	GEV •General Exhaust Valves				
	•Other Exhaust Valves				
	•Fume Hood Exhaust Valves				
	<b>•</b>				
AI# <mark>1</mark>	Indicates the physical input/output being used on the associated PACE. <b>Ex:</b> Al11 shown above is using Analog Input 1.				

## How Object Names are created by default

Object Name	How it is created
[Pace name] – Al1 – [Al1 Device name]	Mimics the Controller Name set in the Controller Details menu.
[Pace name] – Al1 – <mark>[Al1 Device name]</mark>	Mimics the Device Name set in the PACE Manager menu for each device.

## Advanced BACnet Settings



#### BACnet Max Master

Limits the range over which the Poll For Master will scan on the MS/TP segment. For segments with less than 127 devices, optimizing the BACnet Max Master setting for each individual segment can increase the network efficiency.

**NOTE**: The BACnet Max Master must be configured for the highest MAC Address on the MS/TP segment.



Modifying BACnet Max Master setting could result in loss of communication with other devices on the BACnet MS/TP segment. Ensure that all devices on the MS/TP segment are configured with the same max master if it is required.



#### **Restore Default Names**

At any time, the points can be reverted back to the default point names.



This will cause <u>all</u> points to go back to defaults. Do not use this unless all points are desired to go back to defaults.



#### **Global Prefix**

Applies a prefix to the beginning of each BACnet Object Name



If a Global Prefix is entered and then edited in only one BACnet Point, the ability to remove the Global Prefix will be disabled.



#### **Rearrange Controllers**

Provides the user with the ability to modify the Controller Enumerations to reorder the Home Screen as well as the BACnet Points.



Changing the Controller Enumeration will change the order of the BACnet Points. It is not recommended to Rearrange Controllers after the BAS has been programmed.



#### Import Names

Allows the user to import a  $\ensuremath{\mathsf{BN}}\xspace$  to  $\ensuremath{\mathsf{NAMES}}\xspace$  DAT file for a naming convention from another room.

**NOTE**: This is only recommended when a project requires a very specific and consistent naming convention for the facility.



Before importing any BN\_NAMES.DAT files, ensure that all valves are configured correctly and have been ordered in the same order as the valves from which the BN\_NAMES.DAT file was created.

DACnet Mag	Master	Reamange Controllers
		Import Names
lexicos Debul	It Nations	Equat Names
Nobal Prefix		

#### Export Names

Exports the BACnet names from the current room. This file can be used in other rooms when using the *Import Names* function.

Object ID	Description	RACinet Object Name	
N/2	Room Pressure	Room Pressure	1
N/3	Room Pressure Low Alarm	Room Pressure Low Alarm	
aya	Room Pressare High Alexer	Room Pressure High Alam	
10/6	Artion Office Actual	Airflow Offsit Actual	
NJT	Total Palacet Airliow Target	Total Date and Airflow Terget	
MUNR	Yota'i Sahaurit Airflow Actual	Total Sithaut Birflow Actual	
849	Total Supply Airflow Terost	Total Supply Airliew Terget	

#### **BACnet Object Name**

Displays the current BACnet object name and allows the user to adjust the name to provide unique naming to the points.

NOTE: Names are limited to a 39 characters.



Use caution when updating BACnet point names. Changing the names to custom names may cause confusion if not done properly. When troubleshooting, always confirm the Object ID is correct to confirm the value being shown has the correct name.

## **Firmware Update**

The firmware update menu allows the user to manually update the firmware for PACE controllers. The firmware will update on all PACE controllers connected on the same RIN. The firmware update menu will tell you what firmware the PACE is currently running.

**NOTE:** Toolbox will prompt the user to automatically update upon opening the program when it is not running the latest version of firmware.



The user can use the locate file button to select a local version of firmware from their computer. If a specific version of firmware is required for a job, please contact Antec Field Support.

г

FIRMWARE UPDATE × Pace <sup>™</sup> controllers are currently running v1.1.2					
Please select an update file u	using the buttons below.				
Use Latest (v1.1.2)	Locate File				

## Diagnostics

The Diagnostics menu allows the user to download room diagnostic files, download controller syslog files, remove room configurations, and restart all controllers.

MANTEC TOOLBOX						- 0	×
					YOU ARE C	ONNECTED	A
RCOM DETAILS + E	DIAGNOS Retrieve Ro Retrieve Co	TICS	files Files		Remov	> Room Configuration	
ENVIRONMENT +					Res	tart All Controllers	Ξ.
BACNET +							۰.
	SAV1 SAV-21						
INDICATORS +	Name	Size	Modified				
	\$Y\$L00.000	129.49 KB	08-26-2020				
	LINE.STR	73 8	06-22-2020				
	ROOM.CFG	419.8	08-25-2020				
	ROOM.BAK	419.8	08-25-2020				
Name	Ţ	/pe		Compressed size	Password	Size	_
LogArchives	F	le folder					
SAV-3-2	F	le folder					
application.log	т	ext Docume	int	18 KB	No	279	KB
communication.log	Ţ	ext Docume	int	14 KB	No	295	KB
🚯 Room 20-02-26 11-55-31.csv	N	licrosoft Exc	cel Comma S	1 KB	No	2	KB
ROOM.CFG	S	olid Edge A	ssembly Con	1 KB	No	1	KB

### Diagnostics

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Retrieve Room Diagnostic Files		Retrieves a zip file including a log archive, valve specific files (line string, POT curve, and room configuration), application log, communication log, commissioning report, and ROOM.CFG file. The commissioning report allows the user to retrieve the valve specific configuration and room control sequences for all PACE connected on the same RIN. The ROOM.CFG file is a copy of the room configuration file. The application files log information about how Toolbox is running behind the scenes. The application files can assist the field support team with troubleshooting and diagnosing.
Retrieve Controller Syslog Files		Syslog files log information about how the firmware is running for a specific PACE controller. The syslog files can assist the field support team with troubleshooting and diagnosing.
		<ul> <li>NOTES:</li> <li>Each PACE has its own syslog files. Therefore, the syslog files must be removed from each individual PACE on the diagnostics page. This can be done by selecting the tab corresponding to the valve tag.</li> <li>This process will take a longer amount of time than retrieving diagnostic files because the syslog files are much larger files. The files also must be extracted from the PACE and downloaded to your computer.</li> </ul>
Remove Room Configuration		Allows the user to remove the room configuration for all controllers connected on the RIN network.
		NOTE: The BN_NAMES.DAT, ROOM.BAK, and AO#.CAL and ROOM.CFG files are all removed during this process.
Remove BACnet Overrides		Allows the user to remove all persistent BACnet overrides for the room.
		<b>NOTE:</b> BACnet overrides are saved to PACE as files. All BACnet override files should be removed after using the Remove BACnet Overrides feature.
Reset All		Allows the user to reset all controllers

## **Stored Files**

File listings for each controller are also available in the Diagnostics page. Each PACE in the room will have a unique tab which shows all of the files currently stored on the controller:

ANTEC TOOLBOX					- 0	×
				YOU ARE CONN	ECTED	A
ROOM DETAILS +	DIAGNO	STICS				
AIRFLOW +	Retrieve Ro	iom Diagnosti	: Files	Remove Roo	m Configuration	
TEMPERATURE +	Retrieve Co	ontroller Syslog	) Files	Remove BA	Cnet Overrides	
ENVIRONMENT +				Restart A	II Controllers	
BACNET +	SAV1 SAV-21	1				_
INDICATORS +	Name	Size	Modified			
	SYSLOG.000	129.49 KB	08-26-2020			
	LINE.STR	73 B	06-22-2020			
	ROOM.CFG	419 B	08-25-2020			
	ROOM.BAK	419 B	08-25-2020			
	POT1.CRV	59 B	01-01-2098			

In a typical setup, the files that should appear in each tab are:

Venturi Valve	VFX/Terminal Unit	BACnet Files
ROOM.CFG	ROOM.CFG	<u>Custom Names</u>
ROOM.BAK	ROOM.BAK	BN_NAMES.DAT (Only if Custom BACnet
LINE.STR	LINE.STR	names are used)
SYSLOG.001	SYSLOG.001	Persistent Overrides (Only available with PACE firmware 1.2.0 or higher)
AO#.CAL (only if using VV valve and calibration has been completed)		MV#.DAT
POT1.CRV		AV#.DAT
POT2.CRV (Triple Venturi Valves Only)		AO#.DAT
AO3.CAL (Triple Venturi Valves Only)		AI#.DAT
		BI#.DAT
		BO#.DAT
		SCH#.DAT
		<b>NOTE:</b> Persistent overrides are only displayed if BACnet overrides are present.

## **Configuration Backups**

If an error is experienced while attempting to load a room configuration, the user will be prompted with one of the options shown below.





If the issue continues to persist, please contact Antec Controls Field Support for assistance.

## **User Settings**

The user settings menu allows for the units to be set to either imperial or metric. The options for imperial and metric are depicted below.



#### USER SETTINGS Airflow L/s = Air Velocity M/s 🔻 Length cm 👻 Pa -Pressure °C Ŧ Temperature Voltage mV 👻 m³ 🔻 Volume Save Cancel

#### **User Settings**

The following options for units are available in the User Settings Menu.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Airflow	CFM	Allows the user to select either metric or imperial
	L/s	airflow units.
Air Velocity	FPM	Allows the user to select either metric or imperial
	M/s	air velocity units.
Length	In	Allows the user to select either metric or imperial
	Cm	length units.
Pressure	ln.w.c.	Allows the user to select either metric or imperial
	Pa	pressure units.
Temperature	Fahrenheit	Allows the user to select either metric or imperial
	Celsius	temperature units.
Voltage	V	Allows the user to select either mV or Volts.
	mV	
Volume	Ft <sup>3</sup>	Allows the user to select either metric or imperial
	M <sup>3</sup>	volume units.

**NOTE:** Changing the units in Toolbox will also change the units that are viewed over BACnet.

## **Commissioning Report**

Allows the user to generate a commissioning report. When *Generate* is selected the user will be prompted to save a ZIP file that includes the following files.



**NOTE:** Commissioning Reports should be created whenever the user has completed configuration of a room. This will assist with future troubleshooting and will ensure that reports can be submitted upon successful completion of the project start-up.

## **Commissioning Report**

The commissioning report includes all details of the room configuration in a csv formatted file. The report will present valve specific configuration and room control settings. It is important to generate a commissioning report for each room setup to have record of the inputs and outputs configured for each valve as well as the room control settings. Below is a sample of the formatting used for the commissioning report.

ਜ਼ 5ਾ ਟੇਾ ∓		Commissior	ning-Report.csv [Read-Only	] - Excel			
File Home Insert	Page Layout Formulas Data	Review View Dev	veloper Acrobat 🖓			Michael Loeppky 🛛 🗛 S	hare
Paste Clipboard rs F	$\begin{array}{c} \bullet & \bullet \\ \bullet \\$	Wrap Text	General         ▼           \$ ▼ % ♥         \$.00 ±.00 ±.00 ±.00 ±.00 ±.00 ±.00 ±.00	Conditional Format as Cell Formatting * Styles * Styles	Insert Delete Format Cells	∑ AutoSum * A Z Fill * Clear * Filter * Select * Editing	
L17 • X	√ f <sub>x</sub>						~
A	В	С	D	E F	G	H I J	
1 Commissioning Report							
2 Room Name	Room						
3 Room Volume	0 (ft <sup>a</sup> )						
4 ACH Direction	Supply						
5 Airflow Sequence	Flow Offset Control						
6	Control Method	Exhaust and Supply					_
7 Static Supply Flow	0 (CFM)						
8 Static Exhaust Flow	0 (CFM)						
9 Temperature Sequence	Space Temperature with DAT Limits						_
10	Space Temp PID Settings						
11		Кр	2	2			
12		Ki	0.005	5			
13		Kd	C	)			
14		Integral Cap	100	)			_
15	DAT Control PID Settings						
16		Кр	1.3	3			
17		Ki	0.06	5			
18		Kd	20	)			
19		Integral Cap	100	)			
20 DCV Sequence	No						
21 BACnet	Yes						
Commissi	oning-Report (+)			4			Þ
Ready					<b></b>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	100%

### ROOM.CFG

Configuration file containing all settings from the room's setup.

**NOTE**: This file should be stored for back-up purposes after each trip to the job-site and at the end of the project start-up. When troubleshooting, this can provide valuable information to the Antec Controls Field Support Team to help assess any potential configuration issues.

## **BACnet Names**

Exports a list of all of the current BACnet Points based on the room's configuration.

The BACnet Points file is extremely useful to provide to the controls contractor so they have a concise list of all the available BACnet points from each room.

**NOTE:** The file is only generated as part of the commissioning report if BACnet is configured for the room.

<b>₽ 5</b> • ∂•	Ŧ	Bacnet-Points.csv [Read	Only] - E	ixcel			📼 – 🗆 🗙
File Home	Insert Page Layout Formulas Dat	a Review View Developer Acrol	bat 🤇	2 Tell me what you want to	do	M	Michael Loeppky 🛛 🗛 Share
Paste V Clipboard IS	$ \begin{array}{c c} \bullet & \bullet & \bullet \\ \hline \hline \hline \bullet & \bullet \\ \hline \hline \bullet & \bullet \\ \hline \hline$	Image: Sector of the sector	• €.0 .00 .00	Conditional Format as C Formatting * Table * Sty Styles	iel Insert Delete f	Format ↓ Clear	Sum * Area Sort & Find & Filter * Select * Editing
C31 * :	$\times \checkmark f_x$						~
A	В	С	D	E F	G H		J Κ Ι Ε
1 BACnet Points							
2 Custom Names	No						
3 Object ID	Description	BACnet Object Name					
4 AV2	Room Pressure	Room Pressure					
5 AV3	Room Pressure Low Alarm	Room Pressure Low Alarm					
6 AV4	Room Pressure High Alarm	Room Pressure High Alarm					
7 AV6	Airflow Offset Actual	Airflow Offset Actual					
8 AV7	Total Exhaust Airflow Target	Total Exhaust Airflow Target					
9 AV8	Total Exhaust Airflow Actual	Total Exhaust Airflow Actual					
10 AV9	Total Supply Airflow Target	Total Supply Airflow Target					
11 AV10	Total Supply Airflow Actual	Total Supply Airflow Actual					
12 AV12	Room Volume	Room Volume					
13 AV13	Current Air Change Rate	Current Air Change Rate					
14 AV20	Room Temperature Setpoint - Low Limit	Room Temperature Setpoint - Low Limit					
15 AV21	Room Temperature Setpoint - High Limit	Room Temperature Setpoint - High Limit					
16 MV1	Airflow Control Sequence	Airflow Control Sequence					
17 MV2	Room Pressure Mode	Room Pressure Mode					
18 MV3	Room Alarm Status	Room Alarm Status					
19 AV101	SAV-6-2 flow - SAV-6-2	SAV-6-2 flow - SAV-6-2					
20 AI15	SAV-6-2 T1 - DAT1	SAV-6-2 T1 - DAT1					
21 AI11	SAV-6-2 AI1 - RoomPressure1	SAV-6-2 AI1 - RoomPressure1					
< → Ba	acnet-Points 🕀			E 4			•
Ready						■ –	+ 100%



If configuration changes are made after the initial export, it is important to provide the controls contractor with a new list to ensure they are working with the most up-to-date information.

## Help

The help menu allows the user to check the version of Toolbox being run, presents field support contact information, provides a link to the website, and presents a changelog for Toolbox versions.



## Changelog

The changelog presents the changes made for each new version of Toolbox software.



# FHC

## **Home Screen**

After selecting FHC, the user is presented with the following screen:



**NOTE:** Antec Toolbox cannot be used to configure FHC's with VFX. Settings must be configured through the Fume Hood Interface.

	states a contract		
and describe		Lamatumate	
de Sam	iner data	Contraction of the second seco	
<b>1</b> m	where we have		- 24
Contraction of the local data	Table Vol. a		11.11.55
Long bard		: 01	0875547
and a first lays (c)	State Charles Charles		- <sup>11</sup> 💬
Rev Web, Case Robal C	New Oldest Plant	a province of the local division of the loca	
	Parama Province		
ter ter ter ter	filments in the balance	1	
Hereitaur Max XII (		A de dama	
CONTRACTOR OF A DESCRIPTION OF A DESCRIP	**************************************		
Version and the lat			



### **Connection Status**

The FHC setup menu has a circular status light:

- Green: Toolbox is connected to the FHC.
- Red: Toolbox is not connected to the FHC.

**NOTE:** If a connection is not detected upon start-up, the program will display "No Linker Found". After correcting any connection issues, click the connection status to attempt to reconnect.

Setup	
Variable Name	Description
Basic	Allows user to, input basic settings, calibrate the valve and calibrate the sash position sensor (SPS). This menu should cover the majority of the settings required for setup.
Advanced	Allows user to configure inputs, outputs and display settings.
Alarms	Allows user to set face velocity, airflow, valve pressure and sash height alarms.
Network	Allows user to setup a FHC for BACnet or FHN (Mnet).

BASIC ADVINCED	ALASMS	RETWOEK		Educing
Job Information			CONSISTENCED.	Diana in Dunkultur
Art Koner	LINCOLD	]	PENE HOLD THE	Conversite Committed on the Depart
Lag .	LINE VILLE	1		Logor Commonding Esta
Circles Hamilton	Calco No. III	1		https://differentiations/indu
Farms Hand			: Hereit	10413
Anna Road Robit Type 😒 👘 🕺 🛛	alled C Hains	44 COmilia	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
Franklook Code Hellot 0 9 8	inh C Didena	C Ngoal		
searched by an economic fields.	Case 4 ac	MARKAN CO.		
See Construction 2	Connected 7 cm	The Schwart		
Marine and Antonia Vellage (VVV)	2.8	WR COMPANY	R Martin Passation	
Hanimum Valuation Walkage (VVVI) 🔍	18.0	WAR VALUE		
Manager Road Name	78	01M		
Approve Rod Netter D	808	0.00		
Calleon Minimum Rood Minlow	19	0/14		

#### Menu Button

Click this dropdown to access the settings menu for the FHC. See <u>FHC – Settings</u> for further information on available settings in each menu.

Variable Name	Description
Balancing	Displays live readings for fume hood balancing
Setup	FHC Configuration.
Generate Commissioning Report	Commissioning Report: Exports a PDF of all FHC settings.
Export Commissioning Data	Exports a CSV file of all FHC configuration settings.
Import Commissioning Data	Allows the user to import a commissioning CSV file with previously configured FHC settings.
Help	Provides FHC firmware version and Field Support contact information.
Exit	Closes program



#### **Balancing Page**

Displays live readings including airflow, valve pressure, sash height and face velocity. Presents information including face velocity control method and fume hood state.

Allows technicians to work with TAB by utilizing analog output overrides, airflow scale, airflow offset and valve calibrations.

**NOTE:** If the FHC has already been configured when the program is opened, the Balancing Menu will automatically appear.

## Settings

## Basic

h Name:	
Tag	Enter Value
Order Number.	Enter Value

#### **Job Information**

Allows the user to input basic jobsite information.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Job Name	No Character	Job name to be displayed on the commissioning
	Limit	report.
Tag	No Character	Valve tag to be displayed on the commissioning
	Limit	report.
Order Number	No Character	Order number to be displayed on the
	Limit	commissioning report.

**NOTE:** When commissioning data is exported the file name format will populate based on the variables.

Furne Hood Seeh Type: 🕧	F Verbcal	C Norizantel	0	Combination
Face Velocity Control Method. 🕧	19 Sush	C Sidewall	0	Hybrid
Face Velocity Fallback Control Method: 🕕	C Sidewall	No Failly	ĸk	
Sach Control Wethod: 🕕	@ Linweth	C Cal true	Sideval	
Ninimum Actuator Voltage (AD1): 🕕	2	.0	VDC	
Naximum Actuator Voltage (401): 🕧	10	0.0	VDC	Calibode Velve
Ninimum Hood Arllow: (j)	3	8	CFN	
Naziman Hood Airliow: 🕕	9	00	CFN	
Setback Minimum Hood Airlow. 🍈	3	15	CIN	
Occupied Face Velocity Setpoint 🕕	1	00	FPN	
Setback Lace Velocity Setport: (1)	6	20	FPN	

#### Fume Hood

Set up the primary control sequencing for the fume hood

Variable Name	Available	Description
Variable Name	Options/Range	Description
Fume Hood Sash	Vertical	Used for graphic representation in the software for
Туре	Horizontal	the type of fume hood.
	Combination	
Face Velocity	Sash	Configured the control type for the fume hood.
Control Method	Sidewall	Sash will measure the height of the sash and
	Hybrid	calculate now much airtiow is required based on
		Sidewall measures the face velocity and controls
		the valve until the face velocity setpoint is
		achieved.
		Hybrid uses a combination of both sash and
		sidewall control.
		NOTE: Options will be available based on which
		sensors are detected. If a sidewall sensor is not
		installed, Sidewall and Hybrid will not be available.
Face Velocity	Sidewall	If both sash and sidewall sensors are installed on
Fallback Control	No Fallback	the fume hood, the user will have the ability to set
Method		up a fallback method in the case that the sash
		sensor ever fails.
Sash Control	Linear Cal.	Allows the user to map out the sash sensor's
Iviethod	Cal. From Sidowall	response.
	Sidewall	based on sash beight and width to determine the
		required airflow.
		Cal. From Sidewall will allow the user to map out
		the sashes required airflow based on a reading
		from the sidewall sensor.
		NOTE: Cal. From Sidewall is only available if both
		sash and sidewall are installed.
Minimum Actuator Voltage	0 to 10 Volts	Minimum voltage for the actuator output.
Maximum	0 to 10 Volts	Maximum voltage for the actuator output.
Actuator Voltage		
Minimum Hood Airflow	Scheduled Value	Minimum scheduled airflow for the fume hood.
Maximum Hood	Scheduled Value	Maximum scheduled airflow for the fume hood.
Setback Minimum	Scheduled Value	Minimum airflow when in an unoccupied mode.
Hood Airflow		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Occupied Face	Scheduled Value	Face velocity setpoint for the fume hood. Typically,
Velocity Setpoint		100 FPM, but depends on the fume hood
Sotbook Eggo	Sabadulad Valua	Specifications.
Velocity Setpoint	Scheduled Value	hood is not in use. Typically 60 EPM, but depends
volooity ootpoint		on the fume hood specifications.
Calibrate Valve	User Selection	Strokes the actuator from full closed to full open to
		map out the actuator voltage to the airflow value.
		NOTE: This must be performed to properly
		complete setup. Will be bordered by a Green
		outline after it has been completed.

Sash 1 Min. Height. 🕕	Enter Value	n	-
Sach 1 Max Height 🕜	Dater Value	in.	California Sash
Sash 1 Width: (1)	Enter Value	in	
nch 7 Min Height 🕞	Enter Value	-	
iach 2 Max. Hoght 🕕	Enter Value	in	Calibrate Sash
iash214idk 🕕	Finter Volces	•	
ash 3 Min. Height 🕕	Enter Value	n	
ash2Mar Height 🕜	Fister Value	in.	Colibrate Sash
iach 3 Width: ())	Later Value	in in	

Side Wall Sensors (SWS)		
Sidewell   Scale Fector 👔	1.000	Calibrate Sidewall
Sidevall 2 Scale Factor: ()	1.000	Calibrate Sideval

#### Sash Position Sensors (SPS)

----

Auto-detects the number of sash sensors wired to the FHC.

Variable Name	Available	Description
<u> </u>	Options/nalige	
Sash 1 Min.	0 to 120 inches	Must be the <u>full closed</u> position of the fume hood.
Height		Go past any stops that may be in place.
Sash 1 Max Height	0 to 120 inches	Must be the <u>full open</u> position of the fume hood.
		Go past any stops that may be in place.
Sash Width	0 to 120 inches	Width of the sash.

**NOTE:** The FHC can support up to three SPS. Every SPS must be calibrated individually. After the sensor is calibrated, the outline will become Green.

#### Side Wall Sensors (SWS)

Auto-detects the number of side wall sensors wired to the FHC.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Scale Factor	0.5 to 2.0	Sets scale factor for side wall sensor.
		<b>NOTE:</b> This should only be adjusted if the technician or the balancer has measured face velocity during the sensor calibration.
NOTES:		

- The FHC can support up to two SWS.
- When zeroing the sidewall sensor use tape to cover it. Both ports on the inside and outside of the hood must be covered.
- The calibration will calibrate both sensors at the same time. After the sensor(s) are calibrated, the outline will become Green.

Advanced

Face Velocity Nonitor Nethod: 👔	Sech Citized	
Airflaw Carbol Device: ())	8 Vestal Velve	
Report Zona CTM Meen Oil: 🕕	C Enabled C Disabled	
acc Velacily Deathant: ()	10	119
Damper Peaks West (B)	0	

Fume	Hoo
i unic	1100

Hood ۸ <u>ا</u> o bood ootti

Sash Sidewall	Sets the sensor used to display face velocity on the FHI.
	<b>NOTE:</b> Whenever using Sidewall or Hybrid control it is recommended that the monitor method is Sidewall.
Venturi Valve	Sets the type of airflow device being controlled.
	<b>NOTE:</b> Toolbox is only compatible with Venturi Valve setups for the FHC.
Enabled Disabled	When enabled, if the FHC is in the Off Mode, zero airflow will be reported over the FHN to PACE. When disabled, if the FHC is in the Off Mode, the minimum airflow of the valve will be reported over FHN to PACE.
	<b>NOTE:</b> This is helpful when using Venturi Valves with a sequence that turns a dedicated exhaust fan off when the hood is in Off Mode.
5 to 40	Sets the deadband range on the face velocity reading.
	<b>EX:</b> If deadband is set to 10 FPM if the face velocity reading is between 90 FPM to 110 FPM it will display 100 FPM on the FHI.
0 to 100%	Sets the damper position when the FHC is in the Off Mode.
-	Sidewall Venturi Valve Enabled Disabled 5 to 40 0 to 100%

Rinney Input 1 (PHI) Configuration 🛛 🕕	Unused	
RISebeld/Eddy (j)		
Rinney Input 2 (RD) Canfiguration 🕧	Unused	
RD Salas ACHI Dalay 🕧		
Outputs		
Dinney Datpat 1 (DDI) Configuration: 🍈	Unued	
Disnery Dages 2 (002) Configuration: (1)	Immed	
Disney Dages 2 (002) Configuration: 🍈	Usused	
Dinary Dapat 2 (000) Configuration 🔅	Unused Unused	•
Disney Disper 2 (000) Configuration 👘	Unused Unused	
Ellenary Diagna 2 (ECD) Configuration: () Elenary Diagna 3 (ECD) Configuration: () Analog Diagna 2 (ACD) Configuration: ()	Unused Unused Indian Volve Premiere	
Manacy Dagas 2 (002) Configurations () Manacy Dagas 2 (002) Configurations () Analog Dagas 2 (002) Configurations () Analog Dagas 2 (002) Configurations ()	Uhused Uhused Indion Volve Pressure 2.03	- - - -
Stancy Dague 2 (500) Carlguration: () Stancy Dague 3 (500) Carlguration: () Analog Dague 2 (500) Carlguration: () A02 Michaen Vatage: () A02 Machaen Vatage: ()	Unused Unused Follow Walks Pressure 2.00 10.00	- voc - voc
Siency Dages 2 (503) Carligentine () Siency Dages 2 (503) Carligentine () Analog Dages 2 (503) Carligentine () A02 Nichem Witzger () A02 Nichem Witzger ()	Uhused Druked Pelke Werc Proserc 2.09 10.00	- vac - vac
Stany Dope2 (00) Configuration () Stany Dope2 (00) Configuration () Analog Dope2 (00) Configuration () A03 Minimum Wateger () A03 Minimum Wateger () A03 Minimum Wateger ()	Unued Unued Felix Value Pressue 2.89 10.09 0.0	- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

### Inputs/Outputs

Configuring the FHCs inputs and outputs allows for full customization based on the sequence of operation.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Binary Input 1	Unused	Binary Input has no functionality.
Binary Input 2	Setback on Closed	When contact is closed, the FHC will enter Setback Mode.
	Setback on Opened	When contact is open, the FHC will enter Setback
	Off on Closed	When contact is closed, the FHC will enter Off
	Off on Opened	When the contact is open, the FHC will enter Off
	Alarm on Closed	When the contact is closed, an Alarm will display on the FHI
	Caution on Closed	When the contact is closed, a Caution will display on the FHI.
	Emergency Purge on Closed	When the contact is closed, the FHC will enter Emergency Purge.
Binary Output 1	Unused	Binary output has no functionality.
Binary Output 2	Active During	Binary output is active when the FHC is forced to
Binary Output 3	Force On	Occupied Mode.
	Active During	Binary output is active when the FHC is forced to
	Force Off	Off Mode.
	Active During	Binary output is active when the FHC is operating
	Normal	as expected.
	Active During	Binary output is active when the FHC is in
	Occupied	Occupied Mode.
	Active During Setback	Binary output is active when the FHC is in Setback Mode.
	Active during	Binary output is active when the FHC is in alarm.
		Binary output is active when the FHC is in caution
	Caution	Bindry output is delive when the rine is in outlion.
	Follow BI1	Binary output will be active if binary input 1 is active.
	Follow BI2	Binary output will be active if binary input 2 is active.
	Active During Emergency	Binary output is active when the FHC is in Emergency Purge
	Active During	Binary output is active when the sash is above the
	Sash 1, Sash 2 or Sash 3 Use	minimum working height.
Analog Output 2	Unused	Analog output has no functionality.
0	5V during Alarm	AO2 will output 5 VDC when the FHC is in alarm.
	Follow Face	Outputs a user set voltage signal for a user set face
	Velocity	velocity range.
	Follow Valve	Outputs a user set voltage signal for a user set
	Pressure	pressure range.
	Follow Valve Flow	Outputs a user set voltage signal for the full valve range.
AO2 Minimum Voltage	0 to10 Volts	Minimum voltage of the analog output.
AO2 Max Voltage	0 to 10 Volts	Maximum voltage of the analog output.
AO2 Minimum Value	0 to 500 FPM 0 to 5.0 in.w.c	Sets the minimum value for AO2.
	-	<b>NOTE:</b> Will be in in.w.c. if AO2 usage is Follow Valve Pressure or in FPM if AO2 usage is Follow Face Velocity.
AO2 Maximum	0 to 500 FPM	Sets the maximum value for AO2.
Value	0 to 5.0 in.w.c	<b>NOTE:</b> Will be in in.w.c. if AO2 usage is Follow Valve Pressure or in FPM if AO2 usage is Follow Face Velocity.

Dispiny Option: 🕥	Face Velocity	
Fame Hand Name 💿	Drew Value	
Fann Volumby Display Dealband 🛛 🕕	10	
Alam Ive: ()	No Tare	
Marie Tance (1)	240	646
Normal Liteller Calor. 💿	Gener	
Courtiers LineTher Color: 💿	Bink Tolew	
Aberra Likelike Calor: 🍈	Bink fied	
Sattunk länka Gila 👔	Sky Dius	
Red Office Cale of	<b>C41</b>	_

#### Fume Hood Interface

Configures the display settings for the Fume Hood Interface.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Display Options	Face Velocity Name & Face Velocity Normal & Alarm Name & Normal & Alarm	Value to be displayed on screen.
Fume Hood Name	14 characters	The fume hood name that can be displayed on the interface if required.
Face Velocity Deadband	0 to 100	Prevents nuisance alarms when nearing the minimum airflow for the fume hood. This deadband is the difference of the current airflow to the Min airflow for the hood. While inside of this deadband, the display will show the face velocity setpoint.
Alarm Type	No Tone Steady 2KHz Wail Red Alert	Audible alarms can be used to provide feedback to the user when an error has occurred with the fume hood.
Mute Time	0 to 20,000 Seconds	The audible alarm can be silenced for a set time delay by pushing the mute button on the interface.
Normal LiteBar Color	Green White Sky Blue Off	Sets the LiteBar color when the fume hood is in normal operation.
Caution LiteBar Color	Blink Red Red Blink Green Blink Yellow Yellow Off	Sets the LiteBar color when the fume hood is in caution.
Alarm LiteBar Color	Blink Red Red Off	Sets the LiteBar color when the fume hood is in alarm.
Setback LiteBar Color	Green White Sky Blue Off	Sets the LiteBar color when the fume hood is in Setback Mode.
Hood Off LiteBar Color	Green White Sky Blue Off	Sets the LiteBar color when the fume hood is in the Off Mode.

adjusted through the FHI. The FHC manual has detailed menu options and can be found on the Antec Controls website.

## **Alarms**

Pressure / Anlow

ov Valve Pressure: 🔅

High Valve Pressance 🕧

las Paul Kalan 🛞

ghilod Ailor 👔

Orangini Faw Frankishnily Alwara 🕧	63	P P P
Occupied High Face Velocity Alarms 👔	0	EDM.
Setback Low Face Velocals Alama 💿	8	119
Color Martine Color		L MIN
Sash Hoight		
Sash Height	3.0	
Sash Hoigita Faceleide Alem Heigte () Sash Cadoo Heigte ()	3.0	i.
Such Height Fearblich, Ann Height () Sach Cadeo Healt () Sach Cadeo Healt ()	2.0 26.0 25.0	ia 

### Face Velocity and Sash Height

Configure all the alarms on the FHC.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Occupied Low	Disabled	Low alarm for the face velocity reading in Occupied
Face Velocity	1 to 100	Mode. Measured or Calculated face velocity below
Alarm		this value will trigger an alarm.
Occupied High	Disabled	High alarm for the face velocity reading in Occupied
Face Velocity	100 to 200	Mode. Measured or Calculated face velocity above
Alarm		this value will trigger an alarm.
Setback Low Face	Disabled	Low alarm for the face velocity reading in Setback
Velocity Alarm	1 to 100	Mode. Measured or Calculated face velocity below
		this value will trigger an alarm.
Setback High Face	Disabled	High alarm for the face velocity reading in Setback
Velocity Alarm	60 to 200	Mode. Measured or Calculated face velocity above
		this value will trigger an alarm.
Face Velocity	Disabled	Disables the high velocity alarm below this sash
Alarm Height	1 to Sash Max	height. Prevents nuisance alarms as the hood is
	Height	closer to the minimum sash position.
Sash Caution	Disabled	Enables a caution if the sash is raised above this
Height	1 to Sash Max	height. Will prompt the user to close the sash.
	Height	
Sash Height Alarm	Disabled	Enables an alarm if the sash is raised above this
	1 to Sash Max	height. Will prompt the user to close the sash.
	Height	
Setback Alarm	Disabled	Enables an alarm if the sash is raised above this
Height	1 to Sash Max	height when in Setback Mode. Will prompt the user
	Height	to close the sash.

NOTES: A value of 0 in any above fields will disable the alarm.

#### Pressure/Airflow

Configure valve pressure and valve airflow alarms.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Low Valve Pressure	Disabled 0.1 to 5.0 in w.c	Used for Venturi Valves. Will alarm if the valve
11000010	0.1 10 0.0 11.00.0	operating pressure range.
High Valve	Disabled	Used for Venturi Valves. Will alarm if the valve
Pressure	0.1 to 5.0 in.w.c	differential pressure rises above the required operating pressure range.
Low Hood Airflow	Disabled 1 to 10,000	Used if it is critical that the fume hood remains within a set airflow range. Will alarm if the valve airflow drops below this value.
High Hood Airflow	Disabled 1 to 10,000	Used if it is critical that the fume hood remains within a set airflow range. Will alarm if the valve airflow rises above this value.

Dolays		
ace Welcolly Alama Delay: 🌐	10	
Alter Prosent Alam Delay 💿	10	304
là flan Alaan Deiny 💿	10	
Sach Coution Height Delay: 🕕	10	

in va

IS WE

CRM

сни

3.0

0

### Delays

Add delay to any alarms to ensure no nuisance alarms are being triggered.

 Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
 Face Velocity Alarm Delay	0 to 30	Sets the time delay between when the face velocity alarm is detected and when the interface alarms.
 Valve Pressure Alarm Delay	0 to 30	Sets the time delay between when the valve pressure alarm is detected and when the interface alarms.
 Airflow Alarm Delay	0 to 30	Sets the time delay between when the airflow alarm is detected and when the interface alarms.
 Sash Caution Height Delay	0 to 30	Sets the time delay between when the sash caution is detected and when the interface cautions.
## Network

Commanication Holocol ())	C Net	C BACed
Network Termination:	C Crabled	@ Dimbid
Next NAC Address: ()		1
RACanel Road Rate: ()		
84CostDevice Indusce. ())		
BACinet MAC Address: ())		
Fall BAChet Address (1)		

### Network

Configure the network settings for either FHN (Mnet) or BACnet communication.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Communication	Mnet	FHN (Mnet) is used any time that the FHC is
Protocol	BACnet	connected to PACE.
		If the unit is standalone, it can be connected to BACnet.
Network	Enabled	Sets whether the fume hood is end of line (EOL).
Termination	Disabled	EOL should only be enabled on the physical end of line FHC.
Mnet MAC Address	0 to 16	MAC Address for the fume hood controller on FHN.
		NOTE: The MAC address must be unique for every
		FHC on the FHN. The network must begin at 1 and
		increase sequentially through to 16.
BACnet Baud Rate	9,600	Sets the BACnet communication speed.
	19,200	
	38,400	NOTE: All devices on a BACnet segment must run
	76,800	at the same baud rate.
BACnet Device Instance	1 to 4,194,303	Sets the device instance.
		NOTE: The device instance must be unique for
		every device in the facility.
BACnet MAC	1 to 127	MAC Address for the fume hood controller on
Address		BACnet.
		NOTE: MAC address must be unique for every
		device on BACnet.
NOTE: 16 fume hoo	ds can be configure	d on a single FHN.

## Balancing

			PROBABILITY OF THE OWNER OF THE O	
	Territor o Territor o Territor o Territor o		Annotation (* 19 Annotation (* 19 Annotation (* 19 Annotation (* 10) Annotation (* 10) Annotation (* 10) Annotation (* 10)	The first of the second
	inite )		Sali Pale Sila ( Sali Pale Sali ( Sali Pale Sali ()	100 L
1	anten p	• •	Friend Street (CAR) Friend Street Street (C	
n 6	- Marianer O			
	Anisteet () Anisteet ()	201 90	() and means	

## Balancing

Allows the user to assist TAB with balancing the face velocity and valve airflow in the fume hood.

Variable Name	Available Options/Range	Description
Airflow	Live Reading	Displays current valve airflow reading.
Valve Pressure	Live Reading	Displays current valve pressure reading.
Sash Height 1 Sash Height 2 Sash Height 3	Live Reading	Displays current sash height.
Face Velocity Control Method	Sash Position Sensor (SPS) Side Wall Sensor (SWS) Hybrid	Sets the face velocity control method for the fume hood.
Hood State	Normal Caution Alarm	Displays the state of the fume hood.
Sash Open	Live Reading (%)	Displays the sash open percentage.
Target Face Velocity	Scheduled Value	Displays the target face velocity.
Face Velocity	Live Reading	Displays the current face velocity.
Analog Output 1 Analog Output 2	Voltage Range	Displays the voltage outputs for AO1 and AO2.
Overrides	User Input	Allows the user to override the analog outputs to certain voltages.
Airflow Scale/Offset	User Input	Allows the user to scale or offset the airflow.
SPS Scale/Offset	User Input	Allows the user to scale or offset the SPS reading.
SWS Scale/Offset	User Input	Allows the user to scale or offset the SWS reading.

# HOW TO

# **Shutoff Valve Configuration**

Shutoff Valves are designed to provide mechanical pressure independence, while also providing a 0-flow setting.

## **Shutoff Valve Basics**

Airflow (CFM)	Voltage (V)
0	1.228
35	1.427
59	1.535
111	1.648
194	1.742
300	1.828
439	1.903
603	1.971
itation Voltage	
.300 V	Scale

#### How to Identify a Shutoff Valve

Antec Toolbox will not visually indicate to the user whether a valve is a Standard Venturi Valve or a Shutoff Venturi Valve.

Variable Name	Description
First POT Point	If the valve is a Shutoff Venturi Valve, the first POT Point will be 0 CFM.
	<b>NOTE</b> : This is the only indication in the software that the valve is a Shutoff Valve.
Second POT Point	Indicates the first POT point where the valve can achieve mechanical pressure independence.
Eighth POT Point	Indicates the last POT point in the curve, or the maximum airflow that the valve can provide.

**NOTE:** The color of the Variable Name corresponds to the highlighted box in the image to the left.

#### **Mechanical Range**

The mechanical range of the valve is the full airflow range that the valve is capable of providing. This is indicated in the POT Curve as the range from the First POT Point to the Eighth POT Point.

EX: For the POT Curve shown to the left, the mechanical range is 0 CFM to 603 CFM.

#### **Operational Range**

The operational range of the valve is the range in which the valve is capable of maintaining its airflow setpoint with mechanical pressure independence. This is indicated in the POT Curve as the range between the Second POT Point and the Eighth POT Point.

EX: For the POT Curve shown to the left, the operational range is 35 CFM to 603 CFM.

#### Shutoff Zone

The shutoff zone is the range in which the valve is not capable of maintaining its airflow setpoint with mechanical pressure independence. This is indicated in the POT Curve as the range between the First POT Point and the Second POT Point.

If the airflow target for the valve is in the Shutoff Zone, the valve will drive to the fully closed position to provide 0 CFM.

EX: For the POT Curve shown to the left, the Shutoff Zone is between 0 CFM and 35 CFM.

## **Recommended Configuration for Supply or General Exhaust Valve Applications**

EDIT AIRFLOW INPUT	Save Cancel
Usage	Port
VV	* Potentiometer 1 *
Minimum Value	Maximum Value
35 CFM	800 CFM
Airflow Direction	Pressure Input
Supply	▼ Pressure Transducer ▼
Device Name	Fail Position
GEV1	Fail Last Position

#### Recommended Configuration (SAV & GEV)

When using a Shutoff Venturi Valve in a Supply (SAV) or General Exhaust Valve (GEV) application, it is important to ensure that the Minimum CFM is configured to a value that is in the Operational Range of the valve, and not in the Shutoff Zone.

Using the settings below ensure that the valve will not fall into the Shutoff Zone during normal operation.

Variable Name	Recommended Value
Minimum Value	Larger than the First POT Point, and smaller than the Maximum Value.
	EX: For the POT Curve shown above, this Minimum flow should be greater than or equal to 35 CFM.
Maximum Value	Larger than the Minimum Value, and smaller than the Eighth POT Point.
	EX: For the POT Curve shown above, this Maximum Flow should be 600 CFM.
NOTE: Room Mode	es can still be used to override the valve to a full closed position if

## **Recommended Configuration for Other Exhaust Valve Applications**

ADD BINARY INPUT	Add Cancel
Usage Dual Flow Setpoint 🔹	Port Binary Input 1
Open Flow OCFM	Closed Flow 150 CFM
Controlled Device GEV1 ACT -	
Device Name	

#### Recommended Setup (2-Position Valve with PACE)

When using a Shutoff Venturi Valve in an Other Exhaust Valve (OEV) application with a PACE controller, it is important to ensure the Minimum CFM is configured to either 0 CFM or a value that is not in the Shutoff Zone. The Maximum CFM should be in the Operational Range of the valve, and not in the Shutoff Zone.

This gives the valve the ability to shutoff to 0 CFM when not in use, but ensures that it will not attempt to operate in the Shutoff Zone.

Variable Name	Recommended Value
Open Flow	If 0 CFM is required, it can be entered here.
	If 0 CFM is not required, then this value should be larger than the First
	POT Point, and smaller than the Closed Flow.
	<b>EX:</b> For the POT Curve shown above, this Minimum flow can be 0 CFM or greater than or equal to 35 CFM.
Closed Flow	Larger than the Open Flow, and smaller than the Eighth POT Point
	<b>EX:</b> For the POT Curve shown above, this Closed Flow should be between 35 and 600 CFM.

**NOTE:** Settings recommended above are written for when a Closed Contact on the Binary Input corresponds to Opening the Valve. If a Closed Contact on the Binary Input corresponds to Closing the Valve, reverse the values for the Open Flow and Closed Flow variables.

# TROUBLESHOOTING

Symptom	Possible Cause/Solution	
Software does not automatically update to the latest version when connected to a network.	If using an unstable network connection, communication may be lost while checking for software updates. Download the latest version of Antec Toolbox from the login section of the website.	
	<ul> <li>The PACE controller was ordered loose (not factory mounted to an airflow device).</li> <li>1. Configure an <u>Airflow Device</u> for the valve.</li> <li>a. Consult the product manual for the airflow device to ensure the correct airflow limits and/or k-factor are used.</li> <li>b. In the case of a Venturi Valve, use the Edit Curve function to input the valve curve.</li> </ul>	
"?" shows instead of an image of the valve.	<ul> <li>Toolbox failed to load the linestring containing the necessary information to automatically configure the airflow device.</li> <li>1. In the <u>Diagnostics</u> menu, look through the controllers that are online. Are any/all of them missing the LINE.STR file? <ul> <li>a. If <b>Yes</b>, contact Antec Controls Field Support.</li> <li>b. If <b>No</b>, continue to next steps.</li> </ul> </li> <li>2. Check the status light on PACE. If it is GREEN, use the Remove Room Configuration feature in the <u>Diagnostics</u> menu</li> <li>3. Close Toolbox</li> <li>4. Check wiring for RIN connections and Ethernet cable used to connect to controllers.</li> <li>5. After confirming all RIN wiring, re-open Toolbox.</li> <li>6. If no non-up is abaared, controls Field Support.</li> </ul>	
Total Supply and Total Exhaust Airflow readings, Temperature readings and Indicators are not updating.	<ul> <li>The "Master" PACE may be off-line.</li> <li>Check power at all devices is sufficient and that the LED is <b>not RED</b>.</li> <li>Confirm RIN wiring matches the wiring shown in the Network Section of the PACE manual.</li> <li>To identify the "Master" PACE:</li> <li>If the room was configured using Toolbox 1.19266.2 or later: The "Master" PACE is the first PACE displayed on the Home Screen.</li> <li>If the room was configured using Toolbox earlier than 1.19266.2: Use the Retrieve Diagnostic Files feature and send the resulting file to Antec Controls Field Support for review.</li> </ul>	
	<ul><li>Toolbox may have been open prior to connecting to the RIN network.</li><li>1. Close Toolbox.</li><li>2. Connect to the RIN network.</li><li>3. Open Toolbox.</li></ul>	
Unable to connect to PACE controllers.	<ul> <li>Firewall may be blocking the network connection to RIN. See the Adjusting Windows Defender<sup>IM</sup> Firewall Settings.</li> <li>Possible faulty wiring.</li> <li>1. Check that power at all devices is sufficient and that the LED is <b>not RED</b>.</li> <li>2. Confirm RIN wiring matches the wiring shown in the Network Section of the PACE Manual.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Controllers are stuck in a Reboot Cycle:</li> <li>1. Were any changes made to the controllers before the issue occurred?</li> <li>2. Was firmware updated unsuccessfully?</li> <li>3. Check the PACE controller LED color.</li> <li>a. If the PACE LEDs are flashing from Blue to Green constantly, the controllers will need to be replaced. Please contact your local Antec Controls Representative.</li> </ul>	
T1 or T2 reading 244°F	<ul> <li>Possible faulty wiring – indicates a "short circuit"</li> <li>1. Check that the thermistor wires are properly wired to the input terminal.</li> <li>2. Check that the thermistor wire was not pinched or is not short circuited.</li> </ul>	
T1 or T2 reading 48°F	<ul><li>Possible faulty wiring – indicates an "open circuit"</li><li>1. Check that the thermistor wires are properly wired to the input terminal.</li><li>2. Check that the thermistor wire does not have a break or cut in the line.</li></ul>	

# **TOOLBOX - MANUAL**

Unable to add reheat AO.	Possibly limited by Temperature sequence. Space Temperature Control with DAT Limits requires a DAT probe before being able to add an Analog Output for the Reheat Usage.	
Network Fault	<ol> <li>Indicates unexpected voltage pulses on the NET1 or NET2 COM ports.</li> <li>Check polarity of the MS/TP segment.</li> <li>Check 24 VAC power polarity on any 3<sup>rd</sup> party devices to ensure polarity is consistent with the PACE controllers on the MS/TP segment.</li> <li>Use a multimeter to measure AC voltage on NET COM.</li> </ol>	
Antec Toolbox installer does not open.	Possible compatibility issue. Right click the Antec Toolbox app and click Troubleshoot compatibility.	

## Adjusting Windows Defender<sup>™</sup> Firewall Settings

This section details how to manually allow Antec Toolbox through your Windows Defender<sup>™</sup> Firewall Settings.

**NOTE:** The following instruction are for a Windows 10 operating system.

ws Defender Frewall



പം

Check f

frees

# STEP 1

Select the Start button.

### STEP 2

Type "firewall" in the start menu and select the Windows Defender™ Firewall option.

### STEP 3

Instruct binder frond
 Instruct binder frond
 Instruct binder frond
 Instruct binder frond instruct binder frond
 Instruct binder frond instruct binder frond
 Instruct binder frond instruct binder binder binder binder
 Instruct binder frond instruct binder binder binder binder
 Instruct binder
 Instruct binder
 Instruct binder
 Instruct binder
 Instruct binder
 Instruct binder
 Instruct
 Instruct binder
 Instruct
 In

Choose the **Allow an app or feature through Windows Defender<sup>™</sup> Firewall** option on the left side of the window.



# STEP 4

Select Allow another app in the bottom right hand corner of the window.

## **TOOLBOX - MANUAL**



# **Technical Support**

If technical support is required, please contact us:

By Email @ FieldSupport@AntecControls.com

By Phone @ 866-884-3524

Hours of Operation: Monday - Friday, 8am to 4:30pm CST

**NOTE:** If you will need support after hours, please contact us 48 hours in advance.

# CHANGELOG

Manual Version	Toolbox Release	Changes
v100	1.19029.1	Initial release
v110	1.19233.1	Formatting changes Image changes Added Section for Advanced BACnet Settings Added Section for Changelog Added Voltage type input in Analog Inputs section
v111	1.19266.2 1.19294.1	Formatting changes Image changes Added Cooling Devices to Analog Output section Added Cooling Maximum and Heating Maximum to Supply Airflow Control and Exhaust Airflow Control sequences Added Controller Ordering and BACnet MAX Master to Advanced BACnet Settings Added BACnet Naming Report and ROOM.CFG to Commissioning Report
v112	1.19324.2 1.20006.3	Image changes Added ROOM.BAK description and functionality
v113	1.20016.4	Updated balancing menu Added limit for User Created Room Modes Added limits for devices in Airflow and Temperature Staging
v114	1.20043.1 1.20052.5 1.20062.1	Updated SIN Device section Updated Retrieve Room Diagnostic Files description Updated the Firmware Update pictures
v115	1.20070.3	Added a section to troubleshooting outlining how to adjust the Windows Defender <sup>™</sup> Firewall settings to allow access for Antec Toolbox. Updated information for the frequency of entering the Antec Toolbox password
v116	1.20120.1	Updated Temperature Zones descriptions for Add Heating Stage and Add Cooling Stage buttons Added items to troubleshooting section
v117	1.20140.3	Updated to include "Automatic Updates" Added items to troubleshooting section Added "How To" Section Added "Shutoff Valve Configuration" to How to Section
v118	1.20175.1	Updated Connection Status in <u>Controller Information</u> section Added items to troubleshooting section
v119	1.20232.1	Updated <u>Diagnostics</u> for new "Remove BACnet Overrides" button Updated <u>Diagnostics</u> for new BACnet Override Files Updated <u>Binary Inputs</u> descriptions
v120	1.21020.1	Updated Room Pressure usage in <u>Analog Inputs</u> to include Scale Factor and Offset Updated <u>Sensor Information Network (SIN) Devices</u> to include Scale Factor and Offset



Product Improvement is a continuing endeavour at Antec Controls by Price. Therefore, specifications are subject to change without notice. Consult your Sales Representative for current specifications or more detailed information. Not all products may be available in all geographic areas. All goods described in this document are warranted as described in the Limited Warranty.

The complete product catalog can be viewed online at AntecControls.com (a) Antec Controls by Price is a registered trademark of Price Industries Limited.

© 2021. Printed in Canada. v120